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COMMISSIONER’S FOREWORD 
 

[1] In my fourth year as Commissioner, I have 
pleasure in presenting the seventh annual report 
of the Corruption and Crime Commission.  The 
report details the activities of the Commission for 
the 2009-2010 financial year, which, were 
extremely busy and productive. 

 

 Reporting 

[2] The  Commission  tabled  eight  reports  making  
 

nine recommendations with all being accepted by the agencies concerned.  
At the end of the financial year, three recommendations had been 
implemented and implementation of the remaining six was underway, but had 
not yet been completed.  

 

Community Awareness 

[3] Raising awareness of the Commission and its activities has been an ongoing 
priority for both me and my senior officers with Commission staff making 
regular presentations to community, industry and service groups.  During the 
year the Commission launched its new look website which I hope will assist 
in providing access to the Commission and its activities to both an Australian 
and International audience.  

 

ORGANISED CRIME FUNCTION 

[4] The Commission is not permitted by its legislation to investigate organised 
crime. 

[5] The first purpose of the Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 (the Act) 
‘to combat and reduce the incidence of organised crime’, is known as the 
Organised Crime Function. 

[6] Under the CCC Act, the Commissioner of Police can apply to the Corruption 
and Crime Commissioner to be granted authority to use so-called exceptional 
powers to investigate organised crime. If the application is granted, the 
Commission then monitors the use of those powers but does not itself have 
any role in the investigation.  

[7] During this reporting period the Commission received four exceptional 
powers applications from the Commissioner of Police, for which the 
Commission granted three exceptional powers findings.  No fortification 
warning notices were applied for by WAPOL.   
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[8] Applications for the use of the exceptional powers by WAPOL remains 
problematic as can be seen by a decline in applications, with much of the 
difficulty relating to the current definition of organised crime within the Act.  
The effective use of forensic examinations as investigative tools has also 
proved problematic.  The Commission continues to discuss these issues with 
the Commissioner of Police, the Joint Standing Committee on the Corruption 
and Crime Commission (JSCCCC) and the Attorney General. 

[9] The JSCCCC commenced an Inquiry into “How the Corruption and Crime 
Commission Can Best Work Together With the Western Australian Police to 
Combat Organised Crime” and it is expected that the Committee will table its 
report in the first quarter of the 2010-2011 reporting period1. 

 

CORRUPTION PREVENTION AND MISCONDUCT FUNCTION 

[10] The Commission’s second purpose under the CCC Act is ‘to improve 
continuously the integrity of, and to reduce the incidence of misconduct in, 
the public sector’.  The Commission performs its prevention and education 
function, in accordance with the CCC Act, seeking to improve integrity across 
the public sector by building the capacity of public authorities to prevent and 
deal effectively with misconduct by gathering and analysing information; and 
publishing this analysis. 

[11] Following an extensive trial, the Commission restructured how it undertakes 
some of its internal functions, resulting in the merger of the Corruption 
Prevention, Education and Research Directorate with the Investigations, 
Review, Complaints and Assessment Unit following an extensive trial, to form 
the new Corruption Prevention Directorate.   

 

Education and Consultancy Services 

[12] During the reporting period, the Commission delivered in excess of 100 
education presentations in both the metropolitan area and regional Western 
Australia.  It is gratifying to observe the strong demand from public sector 
agencies for the delivery of these presentations indicating an ever growing 
commitment to both recognise and address misconduct risks.  There is also a 
demonstrable commitment at the executive level across the public sector to 
integrate misconduct resistance strategies within existing strategic planning, 
corporate governance and operational systems. 

 

Materials Development 

[13] New workshops relating to misconduct risks for managers and misconduct 
awareness were developed and conducted in the 2009-2010 year.  The 

                                            
1 The JSCCCC report was tabled on 9 September 2010 
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Commission also published three editions of its Corruption Prevention 
Newsletter, which provides information to public officers and the community 
on its recent activities, developments in misconduct resistance and other 
educational information. The newsletters include, as regular items, case 
studies of recent investigations.  

 

Agency Reviews 

[14] One of the ways the Commission achieves its purpose is by helping public 
authorities increase their capacity to prevent, identify and manage 
misconduct and the Commission conducts reviews to assess this capacity.  
The Commission has conducted a number of reviews including the 
Department of Health and the Department of Planning. 

[15] Misconduct management and the issue of misconduct risks in local 
government is a current priority for the Commission and we have embarked 
on an extensive local government sector review program commencing with a 
review of the misconduct handling procedures at two regional Councils.  

[16] In addition to conducting agency reviews, the Commission undertakes 
background research on corruption prevention themes and issues in support 
of Commission investigations and operations.  The following research 
activities were undertaken during 2009-2010: 

• Use of Taser weapons by the Western Australian Police; and  

• Understanding Misconduct within the Tertiary Sector (development of  
an initial scoping paper) 

 

System Based Evaluations  

[17] The Commission also evaluates how public sector agencies deal with 
misconduct allegations through systems-based evaluation of agency 
misconduct management systems. Under this approach the Commission 
conducts on-site evaluations of the way public sector agencies deal with 
allegations of misconduct.   

[18] A major benefit of this approach is it enables Commission staff to positively 
engage with agency staff who have day-to-day responsibility for dealing with 
misconduct allegations.  In this way, the Commission remains in contact with 
the problems faced by public sector officers, establishes effective 
communication links and is able to provide direct assistance both during its 
on-site visits and afterwards.    

[19] The system based evaluation process currently covers the Western Australia 
Police, the Department of Education, the Department for Child Protection, the 
Department of Corrective Services and the Public Transport Authority. 
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Regional Outreach Program 

[20] In August 2009 and March 2010, a specialist team of Commission officers 
and I visited Albany and Katanning; and Port Hedland, Roebourne and 
Karratha, respectively.  The visits included leaders’ breakfasts for key public 
sector and private organisations; discussions, consultation and education 
workshops for public sector and local government; roundtable meetings for 
regional managers of public sector organisations; media interviews; and 
community meetings.  I was able to hear first hand the issues regional public 
sector organisations and staff face in managing misconduct.  The visits also 
enabled public sector officers and members of the community to directly 
interact with Commission officers. I am strongly committed to the regional 
outreach program and further regional programs are planned for the 2010-
2011 financial year. 

 

Australian Public Sector Anti-Corruption Conference 

[21] In 2011 the Commission, CMC (QLD) and ICAC (NSW) will host the third 
National Australian Public Sector Anti-Corruption Conference.   APSACC is 
held biennially, on a rotational basis amongst the three states. Western 
Australia is to host the next conference at the Esplanade Hotel Fremantle  
15-17 November 2011.  The Commission is busily engaged with its sister 
agencies in preparing for this important event and I would encourage public 
officers, local government officers and interested members of the community 
to take the opportunity to attend and interact with similar practitioners from 
around Australia and overseas. 

 

Misconduct Investigations 

[22] The broad nature of the Commission’s jurisdiction results in a diverse range 
of misconduct matters being investigated.  These matters include allegations 
of misconduct and serious misconduct that may constitute serious criminal 
offending. 

[23] During the last reporting period Commission investigations included 
allegations concerning the misuse of restricted-access computer systems, 
the divulging of confidential information, perjury, theft, fraud, abuse of office, 
corruption, drug trafficking, failure to declare conflicts of interest and sexual 
misconduct. 

[24] The Commission has finite investigative resources and through a number of 
internal processes makes every endeavour to focus those resources on what 
are deemed to be high priority and serious allegations of misconduct.  As a 
consequence of investigations, eight public officers and one member of the 
public were charged with 174 criminal offences. Additionally, 11 public 
officers and two members of the public were convicted of around 150 
Commission investigation related charges. 
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Strategic Planning 

[25] The Commission took the opportunity during this reporting period to revisit its 
internal planning processes and significant progress has been made towards 
a new Strategic Plan, revised business planning processes and new 
Individual (Work and Development) Processes.  The Commission also 
commenced a review of its Code of Conduct. 

 

CONCLUSION 

[26] The true measure of the Commission’s work can only be seen by the extent 
to which it engenders a culture of integrity throughout the public sector; and 
build the capacity of the sector to resist misconduct. 

[27] Finally I would like to conclude by thanking the staff of the Commission for 
their continual hard work and efforts throughout the year and their never 
ending enthusiasm to get the job done, often under difficult and somewhat 
trying circumstances. 

 

 

The Hon L W Roberts-Smith RFD QC 

COMMISSIONER 
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OVERVIEW: THE YEAR IN BRIEF 
 

 
Misconduct Function 
 

 
• Assessed 2,851 complaints and notifications containing 3,230 allegations and 

made seven ‘own propositions’ of misconduct.  

 

 
• Monitored 1,640 ‘appropriate authority investigations’ into alleged misconduct, 

conducted by public authorities 

 

 
• Reviewed 1,827 completed ‘appropriate authority investigations’ into alleged 

misconduct conducted by public authorities 

 

 
• Approved 926 applications for the use of the Commission’s statutory powers 

by Commission officers under the CCC Act 

 

 
• Charged nine persons, including eight public officers, with 174 criminal 

offences. Additionally, 13 persons, including 11 public officers, were convicted 
on 146 Commission investigation related charges at conviction rates of 82% 
(by persons charged) and 67% (by individual charges) 

 

 
• Held hearings by way of examinations into 10 misconduct matters over 25 

hearing days, including one public hearing with examination of witnesses over 
three days, and nine private hearings with examinations of 43 witnesses over 
22 days 
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Prevention and Education Function 
 

 
• Delivered 73 corruption prevention and education presentations and 

workshops to 2,476 public officers, delivered 28 community presentations to 
around 1,000 community members, and had 25,020 hits on the corruption 
prevention education sections of the Commission’s website 

 

 
• Tabled eight reports containing nine recommendations, all of which were 

accepted by the affected agencies 

 

 
• Made 160 recommendations in 24 reports.  As at 30 June 2010, 151 (94%) of 

these were accepted and 129 were implemented 

 

 
• Produced 47 corruption prevention education materials in either on-line and/or 

hardcopy formats 

 

 
• Continued the Regional Outreach Program with visits to Albany, Mount Barker, 

Katanning, Port Hedland, Roebourne and Karratha.  The Commissioner led 
these with teams of educators, assessors and investigators in community 
events, leaders’ receptions, radio interviews and various presentations. 

 

 
• Continued agency reviews of the misconduct management systems of the 

Department of Health and the Department for Planning and Infrastructure, 
including tabling a report in the Parliament on Misconduct Handling 
Procedures in the Western Australian Public Sector: WA Health (22 April 2010)

 
 
• Continued agency reviews of the misconduct management systems of the 

Department for Planning and Infrastructure. 
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Organised Crime Function 
 
 
• Received four exceptional powers applications from the Commissioner of 

Police for access to exceptional powers in the course of WA Police organised 
crime investigations. 

 

 
• Held exceptional powers examinations by way of private hearings over two 

days in support of WA Police organised crime investigations 

 

 
• Participated in a working group with other key stakeholders towards the 

expansion of the Commission’s jurisdiction to include the investigation of 
serious and/or organised crime. This was a recommendation of the earlier 
review of the CCC Act and will be a matter for the consideration of Parliament. 

 

 
• Made several submissions to, and gave evidence on a number of occasions 

before, the Joint Standing Committee on the Corruption and Crime 
Commission ‘Inquiry into how the Corruption and Crime Commission Can Best 
Work Together With the Western Australian Police to Combat Organised 
Crime’ 

 

 
Supporting the Commission 
 

 
• The Commission continued its focus on developing its staff members through 

its Individual Development Plan, Awards and Recognition Program, Mentor 
Program, Study Scholarship Program and other individual personal 
development opportunities. 

 
 

 
• The Commission's Occupational Safety and Health Committee promoted 

safety in the workplace, coordinated inspections and ensured greater 
awareness of occupational safety and health amongst Commission staff. 
There were no lost time injuries during the year. 
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• The Commission’s Wellness Program marked its third year of promoting a 

culture of health. The program includes regular fitness activities, corporate 
challenges, information sessions, ergonomic workplace assessments, flu 
vaccinations and the circulation of a Wellness Program Calendar to all staff 
containing information and tips for healthy living. 

 

 
• The Commission has progressed its five-year Strategic Information 

Technology and Communications Plan 2009-2014. Key reforms include the 
formation of a new Information Services structure, consolidating the 
Information Technology (IT) function with the Information Management 
function; an internal audit of compliance against the State Records Act; 
improvements to secure remote access; consolidation of the Commission's 
applications into the corporate environment; and the implementation of the 
Commission's new Internet website. 

 

 
• The Commission has undertaken a tender process for the provision of a 

Telecommunications Monitoring and Recording System. The system the 
Commission currently operates has reached the end of its serviceable life. JSI 
Telecom Pty Ltd was the successful vendor resulting from the tender process. 
The replacement system will be installed and commissioned during the 2010-
11 financial year.  

 

 

REPORTS TABLED IN THE PARLIAMENT 2009 - 2010 
 

• Supplementary Report on the Investigation of Alleged Public Sector 
Misconduct Linked to the Smiths Beach Development at Yallingup (27 
August 2009). 

• Report on the Investigation of Alleged Public Sector Misconduct in 
Connection with the Activities of Lobbyists and Other Persons: Fortescue 
Metals Group Ltd (14 September 2009). 

• Report on the Investigation Into Allegations of Misconduct by Councillors or 
Employees of the City of Bayswater (13 November 2009). 
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• Report on the Investigation of Alleged Public Sector Misconduct in 
Connection with the Activities of Lobbyists and Other Persons: A Ministerial 
Decision in Relation to Applications for a Mining Tenement at Yeelirrie (16 
November 2009). 

• Report on the Investigation of Alleged Public Sector Misconduct at the City 
of Wanneroo (3 December 2009). 

• Western Australia Police Property Management Practices: Report on the 
Progress of Recommendations Contained in the 2005 Joint Inquiry by the 
Western Australia Police and the Corruption and Crime Commission (4 
December 2009). 

• Pursuant to Section 89 of the Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 
the Commission presented the Report on the Investigation of Alleged Public 
Sector Misconduct in Relation to the Activities of an Associate to a Judge of 
the District Court of Western Australia to the Joint Standing Committee on 
the Corruption and Crime Commission (JSCCCC) and the Attorney General 
on 25 February 2010.  A précis was subsequently tabled in the Parliament 
by the JSCCCC as Report No. 8 in the 38th Parliament 2010 (Legislative 
Assembly on 18 March 2010 and Legislative Council 23 March 2010). 

• Misconduct Handling Procedures in the Western Australian Public Sector: 
WA Health (22 April 2010). 

 

 
OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE 

Enabling Legislation  
 

[28] The Corruption and Crime Commission (the Commission) was established on 
1 January 2004 following proclamation of the Corruption and Crime 
Commission Act 2003 (the CCC Act) in the Government Gazette on 30 
December 2003. 
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Responsible Minister 
 

[29] The Commission is a body corporate with perpetual succession that, as an 
independent agency, reports directly to the Parliament. The Commission is 
overseen by a parliamentary committee – the Joint Standing Committee on 
the Corruption and Crime Commission – which is aided by the Parliamentary 
Inspector of the Corruption and Crime Commission. 

[30] The Attorney General, who has administrative responsibility for the 
Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003, is the responsible Minister for 
the Commission’s budgetary purposes. 

 

Mission 
 

[31] The Commission’s mission is to: 

• improve continuously the integrity of, and to reduce the incidence of 
misconduct in, the public sector; and 

• combat and reduce the incidence of organised crime. 
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Organisational Chart 
 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mike Silverstone

ACTING COMMISSIONER
Chris Shanahan SC
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Finance & Administration
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Media Liaison Coordinator
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COMMISSIONER
The Hon Len Roberts-smith RFD QC

Para-legal Services

Security 

Local Government 
and Regions

Health and 
Infrastructure

Product Development 
and Research
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Senior Officers 
 

Commissioner – The Hon Len Roberts-Smith RFD QC 

[32] The Hon Len Roberts-Smith was appointed Commissioner of the Corruption 
and Crime Commission on 8 May 2007 with effect from 5 June 2007, 
resigning from the Supreme Court of Western Australia to take up the 
appointment as the CCC Act required. He was appointed Queen’s Counsel in 
1989, was sworn-in as a Justice of the Supreme Court in 2000 and, in 2004, 
was appointed as one of the first Judges of Appeal of the Court of Appeal 
Division of the Supreme Court. From June 2002, he was also the Judge 
Advocate General of the Australian Defence Force, with the rank of Major 
General, a position he relinquished in assuming his appointment with the 
Commission. 

 

Acting Commissioner – Mr Christopher Shanahan SC 

[33] Acting Commissioner Shanahan was first sworn-in as Acting Commissioner 
on 22 August 2005 for a period of two years, and was re-appointed on 21 
August 2007 for a further three year term. Mr Shanahan was admitted to 
practice in WA in 1984 and has been admitted to practice in NSW and before 
the High Court of Australia. He was appointed Senior Counsel for the State of 
Western Australia on 1 December 2004 

 

Acting Commissioner – Ms Gail Archer SC 

[34] Acting Commissioner Archer was sworn-in as Acting Commissioner on 29 
April 2008. Ms Archer spent the first 13 years of her career at the then Crown 
Solicitor’s Office and the Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions before 
being appointed Principal Counsel of Legal Aid. She joined the independent 
bar in 2004, served as a Commissioner of the District Court for periods in 
2005 and 2006 and was appointed Senior Counsel in 2007. She completed 
the statutory Review of the Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 in 
February 2008. 

 

Executive Director – Mr Mike Silverstone 

[35] Mr Silverstone is the Commission’s principal officer and advisor to the 
Commissioner on all aspects of the Commission’s operations and activities. 
The Executive Director oversees and coordinates the Commission’s 
operations in accordance with the Commissioner’s directions. 
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Administered Legislation 
 

[36] The Commission is established under, and operates pursuant to, the 
Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 

Other Key Legislation 
 

[37] The key legislation affecting the performance of the Commission’s functions 
and operations includes: 

• Crimes Act 1914 (Cth); 

• Criminal Code; 

• Criminal Investigation Act 2006; 

• Criminal Procedure Act 2004; 

• Disability Services Act 1993; 

• Equal Opportunity Act 1984; 

• Financial Management Act 2006; 

• Industrial Relations Act 1979; 

• Legal Profession Act 2008; 

• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993; 

• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984; 

• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003; 

• Public Sector Management Act 1994; 

• State Records Act 2000; 

• Surveillance Devices Act 2004 (Cth); 

• Surveillance Devices Act 1998; 

• Telecommunications Act 1997 (Cth); 

• Telecommunications (Interception and Access) Act 1979 (Cth); and 

• Telecommunications (Interception) Western Australia Act 1996. 
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK Outcome Based 
Management (OBM) 

[38] In its OBM structure, the Commission has two Agency Level Government 
Desired Outcomes which link to that Government Goal: 

• Reduced incidence of public sector misconduct; and 

• Reduced incidence of organised crime. 

[39] The Commission’s three services contribute towards the achievement of 
these outcomes and goals. 

• Service One: Corruption prevention and education programs, 
reviews and consultancy services 

• Service Two: Oversight and conduct of public sector misconduct 
investigations 

• Service Three: Organised Crime Function 

[40] Each service has Key Performance Indicators of effectiveness and efficiency.  
Comprehensive information on the Commission’s OBM structure and 
performance is contained in the Key Performance Indicator section of this 
report. 

 

COMMISSION’S OUTCOME BASED MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Government Goal: Outcomes Based Service Delivery 

Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of
all Western Australians 

Service One: Corruption prevention and 
education programs, reviews and 
consultancy services 

Service Two: Oversight and conduct of 
public sector misconduct investigations 

Agency Level Government Desired 
Outcome: Reduced incidence of 
organised crime 

Service Three: Organised Crime 
Function 

Agency Level Government Desired 
Outcome: Reduced incidence of public 
sector misconduct 
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[41] Service One: Corruption prevention and education programs, reviews and 
consultancy services. 

[42] This service is derived from section 17 of the CCC Act, which establishes the 
Commission’s ‘prevention and education function’ of helping to prevent 
misconduct (which includes corruption). The performance of this service 
involves the Commission seeking to build the capacity of public sector 
organisations to resist and deal with misconduct by: 

• Gathering and analysing information about misconduct from a variety 
of sources including Commission investigations, complaint and 
notification data, and reviews of public sector organisational systems 
and culture. 

• Publishing the analysis of that information in a variety of ways, 
including through reports to Parliament, working papers to 
organisations, training programs, the development of misconduct 
prevention tools, facilitating seminars and consultancy to agencies. 

 

[43] Service Two: Oversight and conduct of public sector misconduct 
investigations 

[44] This service is derived from section 18 of the CCC Act, which establishes the 
Commission’s ‘misconduct function’ to ensure that an allegation or 
information involving misconduct is dealt with in an appropriate way. It 
involves the receipt and assessment of misconduct allegations and 
notifications and the conduct, or the monitoring and review, of any 
consequent misconduct investigations. 

 

[45] Service Three: Organised Crime Function 

[46] Section 21 of the CCC Act provides for the Commission’s ‘organised crime 
functions’, which constitute its Service Three. This involves the facilitation 
and oversight of the use of enhanced and exceptional powers by the Western 
Australia Police in their organised crime investigations.2 

 

Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies 
[47] The Commission did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in 

2009-2010 

 

                                            
2 The Commission has no investigative organised crime powers itself, but regulates any use of the organised 
crime powers available under the CCC Act by the Western Australia Police for these purposes. 
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AGENCY PERFORMANCE – REPORT ON OPERATIONS  
 

[48] The Corruption and Crime Commission was established under the Corruption 
and Crime Commission Act 2003 and it commenced operations in 2004. 

[49] Under the CCC Act, the Commission has two purposes: 

• ‘to combat and reduce the incidence of organised crime’; and 

• ‘to improve continuously the integrity of, and to reduce the incidence 
of misconduct in, the public sector’.3 

Organised Crime Function 
[50] The first purpose of the CCC Act, ‘to combat and reduce the incidence of 

organised crime’, is known as the Organised Crime Function, and is 
described at section 21 and Part 4 of the CCC Act. This function is 
incorporated into the Commission’s performance management framework as 
Service Three. 

[51] Service Three: Organised crime function 

[52] In seeking to achieve this purpose, the Commission is not empowered to act 
independently. In any contribution to the reduction of organised crime, the 
Commission is restricted to facilitating the use of the exceptional powers 
available under the CCC Act by the WA Police. 

[53] During this financial year the Commission received four exceptional powers 
applications from the Commissioner of Police.  Three of those applications 
were granted, resulting in three exceptional powers findings.  No fortification 
warning notices were applied for by WA Police. 

[54] Further detail on exceptional powers findings and associated use of any 
organised crime function powers is not published in order to protect the 
integrity of WA Police’s organised crime investigations. 

[55] The ‘Review of the Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003’, conducted 
by Ms Gail Archer SC in 2007-2008 (Archer review) made a series of 
recommendations for amendment to the CCC Act. One of the principal 
recommendations was that the Commission be granted an enhanced 
organised crime function and a new serious crime function with the aim of 
improving the Commission’s capacity to achieve its statutory objective to 
‘combat and reduce the incidence of organised crime’. The Commission has 
contributed to the development of a Cabinet submission that seeks to 
implement that recommendation. 

                                            
3 Section 7A Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003. 
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[56] In September 2009 the Joint Standing Committee on the Corruption and 
Crime Commission commenced an Inquiry into “How the Corruption and 
Crime Commission Can Best Work Together With the Western Australian 
Police to Combat Organised Crime”.  The Committee has yet to table its 
report4. 

 

Service One: Prevention and Education Function  
[57] The Commission’s second purpose under the CCC Act is ‘to improve 

continuously the integrity of, and to reduce the incidence of misconduct in, 
the public sector’.5 The Commission’s Service One contributes to its 
achievement. 

[58] Service One: Corruption prevention and education programs, reviews and 
consultancy services to the public sector. 

[59] The Commission performs its prevention and education function, in 
accordance with section 17 of the CCC Act, seeking to improve integrity 
across the public sector by building the capacity of public authorities to 
prevent  misconduct and deal with it effectively when it occurs.  This involves 
three main steps: 

• gathering and analysing information about how agencies identify and 
deal with misconduct;  

• publishing the results of this analysis; and 

• working with agencies to improve misconduct handling processes. 

[60] The Commission gathers and analyses information from a variety of sources, 
including but not limited to: 

• commission investigations; 

• notification and complaint data; 

• reviewing organisational systems and cultures; 

• evaluating misconduct management systems in police districts; and 

• Conducting research. 

 

 

 

                                            
4 The JSCCCC report was tabled on 9 September 2010. 
5 Section 7A(b) Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003. 
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[61] Similarly, the publication of such analysis occurs in a variety of ways, 
including but not limited to: 

• reports to Parliament; 

• working papers to agencies; 

• training; 

• seminars with misconduct management practitioners; 

• cross sector forums; 

• consultancy to agencies; and 

• participation in conferences. 

 

[62] To achieve this, the Commission focuses on both public sector agencies and 
the community through: 

• providing education and consultancy services to public sector 
agencies to assist them to deal more effectively and appropriately 
with misconduct risks and misconduct incidents; 

• developing and distributing a range of paper and web-based 
materials covering public sector misconduct themes and issues; 

• working cooperatively with agencies to undertake reviews to assess 
the effectiveness of their misconduct prevention and management 
systems; 

• undertaking follow-up reviews to assess the uptake of Commission 
recommendations; 

• cooperating with anti-corruption agencies across Australia to present 
a biennial conference to highlight approaches to misconduct 
resistance and encourage national cooperation; 

• working cooperatively with the Office of the Auditor General, 
Ombudsman and the Office of the Public Sector Standards 
Commissioner through the Integrity Coordination Group (ICG) to 
coordinate activities to maximise support across the sector and avoid 
inappropriate duplication; 

• where possible, undertaking collaborative research projects with 
universities and other anti-corruption agencies to expand knowledge 
in the area; and 

• working to increase community awareness of the Commission and 
community understanding of its role and functions. 
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Education and Consultancy Services 

 

[63] During the reporting period, the Commission delivered 101 education 
presentations to 2,476 public officers and 1,091 community members across 
the state.  

[64] There was strong demand for these education programs in both metropolitan 
and regional Western Australia, indicating a commitment by public sector 
agencies to learn more about the risks of misconduct and strategies to 
address them.  

[65] Work has continued at the executive level of major public sector agencies to 
encourage and assist these organisations to recognise misconduct risk and 
to integrate misconduct resistance strategies within their existing strategic 
planning, corporate governance and operational systems.  This work 
complements other corruption prevention consultancy and education 
programs. 

[66] The Misconduct Resistance Practitioner Forums continued in 2009-2010 
with great success and strong participation from the public sector.  These 
quarterly forums have been run since late 2008 for public sector and local 
government officers, including those in specialist integrity units, as well as 
managers and supervisors.  Typically the forums use a variety of speakers 
from agencies including other oversight agencies, to present information 
which assists agencies, to increase their capacity to manage misconduct.  
They also provide an opportunity for agencies to network on issues of 
common concern and hear of the experiences of other agencies in the 
management of misconduct.  Topics for the forum are selected based on 
suggestions from the public sector or issues identified by the Commission.  In 
2009-2010 these focussed on identifying misconduct aspects of employee 
conduct, investigation of misconduct and the risks of misconduct associated 
with gifts and benefits. 

[67] The Commission’s Regional Outreach Program continued, to the Great 
Southern Region (Albany and Katanning) in August 2009 and to the Pilbara 
Region (Port Hedland, Roebourne and Karratha) in March 2010.  Visits were 
led by the Commissioner, accompanied by around seven staff, including 
Corruption Prevention officers and investigators.  The program for each visit 
included discussions and consultation with and education workshops for, 
public sector and local government; leaders’ breakfasts for key public sector 
and private organisations in the region; roundtable meetings for regional 
managers of public sector organisations; media interviews; as well as 
community meetings.  The Commissioner and staff heard first-hand of the 
issues regional public sector organisations and staff face in managing 
misconduct.  Complaints of alleged misconduct were lodged directly with the 
Regional Outreach team.  The Commission is strongly committed to regional 
outreach to ensure that awareness is raised of misconduct management and 
regional staff have access to the Commission’s programs.  It also enables 
the Commission to assess the efficacy of agencies’ misconduct management 
capacity at regional locations. 
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MATERIALS DEVELOPMENT 

 

[68] Most of the material developed focused on the new workshops that were 
developed and conducted in 2009-2010 year.   

[69] The Commission also published three editions of its Corruption Prevention 
Newsletter. The newsletter provides information to public officers and the 
community on its recent activities, developments in misconduct resistance 
and related research and other educational information. The newsletters 
include case studies of recent investigations and the outcomes for the 
agencies concerned. Individuals are not identified in the case studies to 
protect their privacy. 

  

Agency Reviews 

[70] One of the ways the Commission achieves its purpose is by helping public 
authorities increase their capacity to prevent, identify and manage 
misconduct and by requiring authorities to notify the Commission when 
misconduct occurs. The Commission may conduct reviews to assess this 
capacity.  The Commission considers that to ensure effective and efficient 
service delivery, agencies need to have a strategic approach to managing of 
misconduct and misconduct risks and develop mechanisms that have 
organisation-wide coverage. The Commission has conducted a number of 
reviews in respect of particular agencies and in this reporting period has 
turned its attention to the local government sector.  

 

Department of Health  

[71] The Commission completed its review of misconduct handling procedures in 
WA Health and tabled its report on April 2010. The report is the culmination 
of the Commission's review that commenced in 2007. The review process 
entailed the following: 

• 300 interviews with Health staff;  

• examination of policies, procedures and structure of 14 work sites;  

• a survey of WA Health staff; and 

• a review of misconduct risks associated with the management and 
handling of Schedule 46 and Schedule 87 drugs.  

                                            
6 “Schedule 4” is defined in section 20 of the Poisons Act 1964 as:“poisons that should, in the public interest, 
be restricted to prescription or supply by a medical practitioner, dentist, veterinary surgeon, or nurse 
practitioner”. 
7 The term “Schedule 8” is defined in section 20 of the Poisons Act 1964 as: “poisons to which the 
restrictions recommended for drugs of dependence by the 1980 Australia Royal Commission of Inquiry into 
Drugs should apply” 
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[72] The review concluded that the Department of Health could not effectively 
prevent identify, or deal with misconduct risks including misconduct 
associated with restricted drugs. Four broad recommendations were made to 
enable WA Health to remedy this situation.  All four recommendations were 
accepted by the Department of Health, however are yet to be implemented. 

 

Department of Planning and Infrastructure (DPI) and Department of 
Transport (DOT):  

[73] This review commenced in January 2008 as a review of DPI prior to the 
transfer of licensing operations to the Department of Transport in July 2009.  
The review focused on DPI’s misconduct handling systems.  The 
Commission's review was completed in January 2010 with a working paper 
focussing on the issue of 'improper influence' as a misconduct risk within the 
former DPI, and now DOT, licensing areas.  

[74] The work carried out indicated that the risk of improper influence was 
significant across the work sites visited - considerably higher than was 
anticipated. Attempts to influence were generally reported as everyday, 
commonplace occurrences. The review concluded that: 

• DPI was exposed to the risk of improper influence related misconduct 
in its licensing operations; 

• DPI had done little to protect itself from this risk; and  

• DPI's management of its metropolitan vehicle examination and motor 
drivers licence assessment activities heightened its exposure to 
improper influence.  

[75] The Commission will table a report on this matter in late 2010 and will make 
recommendations aimed at reducing misconduct risks in this area. 

 

Local Government Sector 

[76] Misconduct management and the issue of misconduct risks in local 
government is a current priority for the Commission.  Consequently, it started 
an extensive local government sector review programme. Given the size and 
spread of the organisations within the local government sector, this work will 
extend over several reporting periods. The Commission has reviewed the 
misconduct handling procedures at the Town of Port Hedland and the Shire 
of Roebourne and commenced the review programme. It is completing 
working papers of this review to aid identifying and improving misconduct 
management in the local government sector.   
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Commission Recommendations 

[77] Under section 91 (2) (c) of the CCC Act, the Commission is required to report 
on its ‘evaluation of the response of appropriate authorities to 
recommendations made by the Commission’.   

[78] The Commission made nine recommendations in three reports during 2009-
2010. All nine recommendations (100%) were accepted. At the end of the 
financial year, of those nine recommendations, three had been implemented. 
Implementation of the remaining six was underway but was not complete.  

[79] Since its inception, the Commission has made 160 recommendations in 24 
reports. At the end of the financial year, 151  (94%) of these had been 
accepted, of which 129 had been implemented.   

 

Australian  Public Sector Anti Corruption  Conference (APSACC) 

[80] APSACC is a National Conference jointly hosted by the CCC (WA), the CMC 
(QLD) and ICAC (NSW) held biennially, on a rotational basis among the 
three states.   Western Australia is to host the next APSAC conference at the 
Esplanade Hotel Fremantle on 15 – 17 November 2011.  The Commission 
has worked with its sister agencies over this reporting period in appointing a 
conference organiser, developing  conference themes and determining key 
note speakers for the forthcoming conference. 

 

Integrity Coordinating Group (ICG) 

[81] The ICG was formed in 2005.  It is an informal arrangement under which the 
heads of the State’s four integrity agencies (the OPSSC, the OAG, the 
Ombudsman and the Commission) meet quarterly to communicate their 
activities to develop a shared understanding and to ensure that their focus is 
appropriately distributed over agencies. 

[82] The leadership of the ICG rotates between the four bodies.  The Chair for 
2009-2010 was the Western Australian Ombudsman.    

[83] The ICG is determined not to be seen as another oversight body, and 
accordingly concentrates its activities around communicating wherever 
possible its shared activities and resources.   

[84] In the past year it has: 

 formally shared information about the activities of members on a 
quarterly basis;  

 conducted an Integrity Forum for integrity officers in state 
government bodies; and 

 worked to encourage research on integrity issues in Western 
Australian  universities. 
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Research 

[85] In addition to conducting agency reviews, the Commission undertakes 
background research on corruption prevention themes and issues in support 
of Commission investigations and operations.  The following research 
activities were undertaken during the 2009-2010 period: 

 use of Tasers within Western Australian Police; and 

 understanding Misconduct within the Tertiary Sector 
(development of initial scoping paper) 

 

System Based Evaluations (SBE)  

[86] The Commission evaluates how public sector agencies deal with misconduct 
allegations through System Based Evaluations of agency misconduct 
management systems. Under this new approach the Commission conducts 
on-site evaluations of the way public sector agencies deal with the 
allegations of misconduct they receive.  This includes examining files and 
making recommendations for changes to processes and procedures.   

[87] These examinations occur in parallel with the Commission’s existing 
processes for assessing allegations, referring them for investigation by public 
sector agencies and, where appropriate, monitoring the conduct of the 
subsequent investigation and reviewing the outcomes.  This comprehensive 
approach enables the Commission to give priority to more serious 
misconduct matters, while continuing to monitor less serious matters and 
dealing effectively with increasing numbers of misconduct notifications.   

[88] A major benefit of this approach is it enables Commission staff to positively 
engage with agency staff who have day-to-day responsibility for dealing with 
misconduct allegations.  In this way, the Commission remains in contact with 
the problems faced by public sector officers, establishes effective 
communications links and is able to provide direct assistance both during its 
on-site visits and afterwards.   This is particularly helpful for staff in regional 
offices otherwise unaware of the range of resources that the Commission can 
provide to assist them.   

[89] The system based evaluation process currently covers the Western Australia 
Police, Department of Education, Department for Child Protection, 
Department of Corrective Services and the Public Transport Authority 
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Community Awareness 

[90] Raising awareness of the Commission and its activities was a continuing 
priority throughout the year.  The Commissioner and senior Commission staff 
made regular presentations to community, industry and service groups.  
During the year, presentations were made to the following groups: 

• Albany Community Leaders – Regional Outreach; 

• Albany General Community – Regional Outreach; 

• Port Hedland Community Leaders – Regional Outreach; 

• Karratha Community Leaders – Regional Outreach; 

• Katanning General Community – Regional Outreach; 

• Curtin University Staff; 

• Murdoch University Law students; 

• Mill Point Rotary Club; 

• Edith Cowan University Students; 

• Australian Association for Professional and Applied Ethics 
Conference Delegates; 

• Australian Public Sector Anti-Corruption Conference Delegates; 

• Australian Council of Women and Policing Conference Delegates;  

• Institute of Internal Auditors Conference Delegates;  

• The West Australian Cadet Journalists; and 

• The Constitutional Centre of Western Australia. 
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Reports Tabled in Parliament 

[91] During 2009-2010, the Commission tabled the following reports:  

• Supplementary Report on the Investigation of Alleged Public Sector 
Misconduct Linked to the Smiths Beach Development at Yallingup 
(27 August 2009).  

• Report on the Investigation of Alleged Public Sector Misconduct in 
Connection with the Activities of Lobbyists and Other Persons: 
Fortescue Metals Group Ltd (14 September 2009).  

• Report on the Investigation Into Allegations of Misconduct by 
Councillors or Employees of the City of Bayswater (13 November 
2009).  

• Report on the Investigation of Alleged Public Sector Misconduct in 
Connection with the Activities of Lobbyists and Other Persons: A 
Ministerial Decision in Relation to Applications for a Mining Tenement 
at Yeelirrie (16 November 2009).  

• Report on the Investigation of Alleged Public Sector Misconduct at 
the City of Wanneroo (3 December 2009).  

• Western Australia Police Property Management Practices: Report on 
the Progress of Recommendations Contained in the 2005 Joint 
Inquiry by Western Australia Police and the Corruption and Crime 
Commission (4 December 2009).  

• Pursuant to Section 89 of the Corruption and Crime Commission Act 
2003 the Commission presented the Report on the Investigation of 
Alleged Public Sector Misconduct in Relation to the Activities of an 
Associate to a Judge of the District Court of Western Australia to the 
Joint Standing Committee on the Corruption and Crime Commission 
(JSCCCC) and the Attorney General on 25 February 2010.  A Précis 
was subsequently tabled in the Parliament by the JSCCCC as Report 
No. 8 in the 38th Parliament 2010 (Legislative Assembly on 18 March 
2010 and Legislative Council 23 March 2010). 

• Misconduct Handling Procedures in the Western Australian Public 
Sector: WA Health (22 April 2010). 
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Misconduct Function 

[92] The Commission’s Service Two contributes towards the achievement of its 
second purpose, ‘to improve continuously the integrity of, and to reduce the 
incidence of misconduct in, the public sector’. 

[93] Service Two: Oversight and conduct of public sector misconduct 
investigations. 

[94] The Commission’s misconduct function is composed of two main elements: 

• the oversight of appropriate authority8 misconduct investigations; and 

• the conduct of misconduct investigations. 

 

Oversight of Appropriate Authority Investigations 

[95] The Commission’s oversight of public sector misconduct investigations 
involves the receipt of allegations and notifications of misconduct, the 
assessment of those matters received, which may lead to their referral to an 
‘appropriate authority’ for investigation, the monitoring of resulting 
‘appropriate authority investigations’, and review of resulting ‘appropriate 
authority investigations’ once completed to ensure that outcomes are 
appropriate. 

[96] Table 1 details the various misconduct complaint activities for the 2009-2010 
reporting period compared with the previous year. 

 

CCC Activity 2008-2009 2009-2010 

Assessment of complaints/notifications 2,838 

(3,205 allegations) 

2,851 

(3,327 allegations) 

Appropriate authority investigations monitored 1,989 1,640 

Appropriate authority investigations reviewed 1,938 1,827 

Appropriate Authority Activity 2008-2009 2009-2010 

Appropriate authority investigations 
commenced 1,684 1,698 

Appropriate authority investigations finalised 1,916 1,810 
Table 1:  Matters Dealt with 

                                            
8 Section 3 of the CCC Act defines ‘appropriate authority’ as ‘a person, body or organisation who or which is 
empowered by a law of the State to take investigatory or other action, or both, in relation to misconduct, but 
does not include an independent agency or either House of Parliament’. 
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[97] The Commission may receive allegations and notifications about misconduct 
from a range of sources, as illustrated below in comparison with previous 
years, in Table 2. 

 

Misconduct Notifications 2008-2009 2009-2010 

Reports of misconduct from individuals 
(section 25) (the Public) 513 471 

Notifications of misconduct from notifying 
authorities (section 28) (Public Sector 
Agencies) 

2,157 2,325 

Reviewable police action (section 21A 
(excludes allegations against police under 
sections 25 and 28)) (Western Australia 
Police) 

529 434 

Commission’s own proposition about 
misconduct (Section 26) (CCC) 6 7 

Total Notifications 3,205 3,237 
Table 2: Misconduct Notification Sources 

 

Analysis  

[98] There has been a marginal increase in complaints received from 2008-2009 
to 2009-2010. However, there has been a 33% increase over the past three 
years. 

[99] The reported decrease in appropriate authority investigations monitored and 
appropriate authority investigations reviewed can be attributed to the 
continued roll out of the System Based Evaluations process.  The decrease 
in the number of matters monitored and reviewed by the Commission occurs 
because these processes have been replaced with on site reviews, in 
conjunction with analysis of local misconduct handling systems.  

[100] This system based evaluation process currently covers WA Police, 
Department of Education, Department of Child Protection, Corrective 
Services and the Public Transport Authority. 

[101] While there have been some variations in the numbers of notifications within 
different categories, the overall total has remained reasonably steady.  
However, there has been a 25% increase over the past three years.   
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2008–2009 2009-2010 Agency Sector 

No. % No. % 

WA Police 1,274 40% 1,221 38% 

Education 394 12% 575 18% 

Corrective Services 359 11% 286 9% 

Local Government 283 9% 248 8% 

Health 337 10% 376 12% 

Planning & Infrastructure 30 1% 2 0% 

Other 498 16% 522 16% 

Outside Jurisdiction 30 1% 7 0% 

Total 3,205 100% 3,237 100% 
Table 3: Allegations by Agency Sector 

 

Analysis  

[102] While there are some variations in the actual number of notifications received 
on an agency-by agency basis, the relative percentages have remained fairly 
static.  For example, while there has been a decrease of 35 notifications from 
local governments, the percentage of local government matters received 
relative to the total number of notifications received by the Commission has 
decreased by only 1%. 

[103] There were some significant variances however in the number of notifications 
received from some agencies.  For example, the Department of Education 
notifications have increased by 46% due to continued improvements in that 
agency’s misconduct management systems.  

[104] Conversely, there was 20% decline in the number of notifications received 
from the Department of Corrective Services. This decline appears to be the 
result of a change to how the Department determines what matters should be 
notified to the Commission. The Commission is considering the adequacy of 
the Department’s notification process as part of its Systems Based 
Evaluation process.   
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2008-2009 2009-2010 Commission Assessment Decisions 

No. % No. % 

Referred to home agency for investigation and review 1221 38% 1404 43% 

Referred to WA Police for (external) criminal investigation 19 1% 16 0% 

Referred to both home agency and Police  208 6% 122 4% 

Referred to CCC Investigations Unit 36 1% 29 1% 

Referred to independent authority 5 0% 7 0% 

Take no action 594 18% 457 14% 

Referred to Agency for  Systems Based Evaluation  9 1081 34% 1150 35% 

Referred to appropriate authority other than home agency 22 1% 43 1% 

Referred to home agency and other appropriate authority 0 0% 7 0% 

Referred to Commission CCC Investigations Unit in 
cooperation with appropriate authority 19 1% 2 0% 

Total 3,205 100% 3,237 100% 
Table 4: Commission Assessment Decisions 

 

Analysis  

[105] The number and mix of assessment decisions made by the Commission is 
consistent with the previous financial year. The majority of matters, in total 
78%, were referred to agencies for investigation or other action.  

[106] The advent of the Commission's Systems Based Evaluation process which 
commenced in the last financial year has affected how these matters are 
subsequently reviewed by the Commission. Consistent with last year’s 
figures, 35% of all matters referred to agencies were reviewed by the 
Commission through the SBE process which focuses on organisational 
systems and cultures. 43% of all matters were referred to agencies and 
reviewed through the more traditional case-by-case approach.   

 

 

 

 

                                            
9 Previous years only included Police.  This years figure also includes referrals to Department of Education, 
Department of Corrective Services, Department for Child Protection and Public Transport Authority.  This 
category of referral commenced 1 January 2008. 
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2008 - 2009 2009 - 2010 Allegation Category 

No. % No. % 

Abuse of power 87 3% 95 3% 

Arson 3 0% 5 0% 

Assault – physical / excessive use of force 488 15% 560 17% 

Assault – sexual / indecent 61 2% 38 1% 

Breach of code of conduct / policy/procedures 426 13% 336 10% 
Breach of confidentiality / misuse of information / 
improper disclosure 141 4% 114 4% 

Bribes – receiving of 7 0% 9 0% 

Bullying / intimidation / harassment 139 4% 152 5% 

Conflict of interest 57 2% 54 2% 

Contracts and tendering 26 1% 21 1% 

Corrupt conduct 37 1% 50 2% 

Death in custody 2 0% 0 0% 

Drugs – stolen/missing 171 5% 33 1% 

Drug related conduct 97 3% 60 2% 

Electoral misconduct 1 0% 2 0% 

Failure to act 132 4% 119 4% 

Failure to declare gifts 6 0% 1 0% 

Failure to declare interest –financial / proximity / other 40 1% 33 1% 

Firearms – misuse of 17 1% 4 0% 

Fraud/falsification/fabrication 174 5% 303 9% 

Improper association 48 1% 61 2% 

Inappropriate behaviour 155 5% 232 7% 

Indecent dealing with minor 14 0% 14 0% 

Making false claims for reimbursement 2 0% 4 0% 

Making misleading/ false/defamatory statements 43 1% 6 0% 

Medical malpractice 1 0% 2 0% 

Misappropriation of funds 20 1% 15 0% 

Miscellaneous 22 1% 18 1% 

Misuse of computer system / email / internet 120 4% 180 6% 

Neglect of duty 164 5% 198 6% 

No allegation identified 26 1% 6 0% 
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2008 - 2009 2009 - 2010 Allegation Category 

No. % No. % 

No suspect behaviour – intelligence purposes only 1 0% 2 0% 

Other 16 0% 3 0% 

Other property related offence 4 0% 3 0% 

Secondary employment – unauthorised / inappropriate 15 0% 17 1% 

Serious criminal conduct 19 1% 22 1% 

Sexual harassment 18 1% 21 1% 

Stealing/theft 81 3% 109 3% 

Unauthorised use of agency property 24 1% 21 1% 

Unlawful arrest 4 0% 8 0% 

Unlawful search/trespass 1 0% 0 0% 

Unprofessional conduct – demeanour / attitude / language 268 8% 271 8% 

Using position for wrong/personal gain 27 1% 35 1% 

Total 3,205 100 3237 100% 
Table 5: Allegation Category 

 

Analysis  

[107] The distribution of allegations received within categories has not changed 
significantly since 2008-2009. There were, however, some changes of note. 
For example, the number of drug related allegations has fallen from 171 (5% 
of all allegations) in the previous year to 33 (1%). This change occurred 
because there was a significant fall in the number of drug related allegations 
from the Department of Health. In the previous financial year the Department 
conducted an audit of missing drugs which identified and reported a 
significant number of historical matters. This resulted in a spike in 
notifications in this category for 2008-2009.  

[108] There are similar reasons behind the increase in fraud allegations received. 
These increased from 174 (5%) in 2008-2009 to 303 (9%) in 2009-2010. This 
increase is mainly attributable to the Department of Health's investigation into 
salary sacrificing practices by Department of Health employees.  

[109] There has also been an increase in the number of misuse of computer 
allegations. These increased from 120 (4%) in 2008-2009 to 180 (6%) in 
2009-2010. This increase may be partly attributable to an increased 
awareness of the misconduct risks in this area as highlighted in a number of 
Commission investigations.  
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Misconduct Investigations 

[110] Section 91(2)(b) of the CCC Act requires that the Commission’s Annual 
Report include a description of the types of investigations carried out during 
the reporting period. 

[111] The broad nature of the Commission’s jurisdiction results in a diverse range 
of misconduct matters being investigated.  These matters include allegations 
of misconduct and serious misconduct that may constitute serious criminal 
offending. 

[112] During the last reporting period Commission investigations included 
allegations concerning the misuse of restricted-access computer systems, 
the divulging of confidential information, perjury, theft, fraud, abuse of office, 
corruption, drug trafficking, failure to declare conflicts of interest and sexual 
misconduct. 

[113] The Commission has finite investigative resources and, through a number of 
internal processes, makes every endeavour to focus those resources on 
what are deemed to be high priority and serious allegations of misconduct. 

 

Information Furnished to Independent Authorities 

[114] The Commission provides information under the CCC Act to a range of 
authorities in the course of its work. It is required to report upon the general 
nature and extent of information provided to independent authorities pursuant 
to section 91(2)(d). The information in most instances has either been 
received by the Commission from people making complaints, or has been 
obtained by the Commission as a result of its investigations. 

• Telecommunications interception and surveillance device product 
was disclosed as ‘official information’  to the Western Australia Police 
pursuant to section 152(4)(a) and 18(2)(g) of the CCC Act for ‘the 
purposes of this Act’, being ‘consulting, cooperating, and exchanging 
information’ with an appropriate authority.  The provision of the 
lawfully intercepted telecommunications material and lawfully 
obtained surveillance material occurred pursuant to section 67(1) and 
68(b)(i) of the Telecommunications (Interception and Access) Act 
1979 (Cth) and section 9(2)(a)(iii) of the Surveillance Devices Act 
1998 (WA) respectively.  The information disclosed was in relation to 
disciplinary action against members of the WA Police and for other 
criminal investigations, or suspected criminal activity. 

• Information was released to a number of agencies under the 
provisions of section 152 of the CCC Act to assist those agencies 
with ongoing disciplinary action, or ‘for the purposes of this Act’ or 
‘consulting, cooperating, and exchanging information’ with 
appropriate authorities.  These agencies included the Department of 
Corrective Services, the Department of Health, the Department of the 
Attorney General, the Department of Education, the Western 
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Australian College of Teaching, the Working with Children Screening 
Unit, the Independent Commission Against Corruption (NSW), the 
Crime and Misconduct Commission (QLD), the Office of Police 
Integrity (VIC), Ombudsmen in other states, Auditors General in other 
states, the Australian Federal Police,  the Australian Crime 
Commission and the Australian Taxation office. 

 

Prosecutions and Disciplinary Action 

[115] Section 91(2)(e) of the CCC Act requires that the Commission report the 
extent to which its investigations have resulted in prosecutions and in 
disciplinary action against public officers.10 

[116] A number of the Commission’s misconduct investigations have resulted in 
the identification of behaviours that although not being criminal in nature may 
constitute a breach of discipline.  This may include a public officer 
contravening a public sector standard or code of conduct, committing an act 
of misconduct, or being negligent or careless in the performance of his or her 
functions. 

[117] The Commission does not take a direct role in, nor determine the outcomes 
of disciplinary procedures undertaken by public authorities.  The Commission 
can make assessments and form opinions that misconduct has occurred and 
may also make recommendations to the Chief Executive Officer of a public 
authority that, due to certain actions that have been identified, disciplinary 
action might be considered. 

[118] The Commission may further address the issue with the agency if the action 
subsequently taken appears insufficient. 

[119] During the reporting year, disciplinary action was either taken by the following 
independent authorities as a result of Commission investigations, was not 
considered warranted, or was likely to have been curtailed due to the 
relevant public officer resigning from the public sector: 

• Department of Corrections; 

• Department of the Attorney General; 

• Western Australia Police; 

• Department of Health; and 

• Pilbara Development Corporation (managed by PSC). 

                                            
10 Note that the preferring of charges and any resulting convictions may not necessarily occur during the 
same reporting period due to the time required to conclude prosecution processes in the courts.  Therefore, 
care should be taken if attempting to analyse this information on that basis. 
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[120] The conviction rates against charges resulting from Commission 
investigations for the reporting period appear below, including a comparison 
with historic rates since the Commission’s establishment (Table 6). 

 

Table 6: Conviction rates for prosecutions arising from Commission investigations 

 

[121] Table 7 includes a summary of the charges and convictions relating to the 
Commission’s operations during the reporting period. 

 

Activity 2008-2009 2009-2010 

Number of public officers charged 10 8 

Total number of persons charged 

 
14 9 

Number of charges against public officers 

 
67 144 

Total number of charges 

 
81 174 

Number of public officers convicted 

 
8 11 

Total persons convicted 

 
16 13 

Table 7: Charges and Convictions Summary 

 
 

Conviction Rates Since 2004 2009 - 2010 

By persons charged 79.1% 82% 

By charges 66.3% 66% 
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[122] Table 8 displays the particular charges preferred against individuals during 
the reporting period. 

 

Status11 Count Charges against individuals 

20 Stealing (ss 371 & 378(6) Criminal Code) Public Officer 

2 Fraud (s 409(1)(c) Criminal Code) 

Public Officer 1 Using a carriage service to access child 
pornographic material (s 471.19 Commonwealth 
Criminal Code) 

1 Possession of cannabis (s 6(2) of the Misuse of 
Drugs Act) 

1 Possession of smoking implement (s5(1)(d)(i) of 
the Misuse of Drugs Act) 

49 Unlawful use of computers (s 440A(3)(c) of the 
Criminal Code) 

Public Officer 

2 Disclose official secrets (s 81(2) of the Criminal 
Code) 

Public Officer 30 Bribery (s 82 Criminal Code) 

Non Public Officer 30 Bribery (s 82 Criminal Code) 

10 Unlawful use of computers (s 440A(3)(c) of the 
Criminal Code) 

Public Officer 

5 Disclose official secrets (s 81(2) of the Criminal 
Code) 

13 Unlawful use of computers (s 440A(3)(c) of the 
Criminal Code) 

Public Officer 

2 Disclose official secrets (s 81(2) of the Criminal 
Code) 

Public Officer 6 Stealing (ss 371 & 378(6) Criminal Code) 

Public Officer 2 Stealing (ss 371 & 378(6) Criminal Code) 

Total no. of 
charges 

174  

Table 8: Charges Against Individuals 

                                            
11 ‘Public Officer’ indicates the person charged held the position of ‘public officer’ as defined by section 3 of 
the CCC Act and section 1 of the Criminal Code; ‘Non-Public Officer indicates any other individual. 
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[123] Table 9, records the convictions against individuals during the reporting 
period which relate to the Commission’s investigations. 

Status Count Conviction 
(against individuals) 

Penalty 

Public Officer 1 Receiving (s 414 Criminal Code) Fined $25 with costs of 
$60 

2 Play restricted interview to person 
unauthorised (s 120(3) Criminal 
investigation Act) 

Fined $1,000 Public Officer 

16 
Unauthorised use of computer 
system (s 440A Criminal Code) 

7 months imprisonment 
suspended for 12 
months 

Public Officer 1 Giving false testimony (s 168 
CCC Act) 

Fined $12,500 

Non Public 
Officer 

1 Giving false testimony (s 168 
CCC Act) 

Fined $25,000 

2 Possess cannabis (s6(2) Misuse 
of Drugs Act) 

1 Cultivate cannabis (s7(2) Misuse 
of Drugs Act) 

Public Officer 

1 Possess smoking element 
(s5(1)(d)(i) Misuse of Drugs Act) 

Global fine of $2,500 

1 Fraud (s 409 Criminal Code) 

1 Create false belief (s 171 Criminal 
Code) 

Public Officer 

23 Unlawful use of a computer 
system (s440A Criminal Code) 

10 months imprisonment 
suspended for 18 
months with a 
supervision requirement 

Public Officer 13 Unlawful use of a computer 
system (s440A Criminal Code) 

Fined $4,550 with costs 
of $119.20 

Public Officer 2 Fraud (s409(1)(c) Criminal Code) Convicted 1/6/10. To be 
sentenced on 13/8/10 

Public Officer 13 Unauthorised use of computer 
system (s 440A Criminal Code) x 
8; 

Disclosing official secrets x 5 

18 months imprisonment 
suspended for 18 
months with 18 months 
intensive supervision 
order. Costs of $119.20 

Public Officer 30 Bribery (s82 Criminal Code) To be sentenced 6/8/10 
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Status Count Conviction 
(against individuals) 

Penalty 

Non Public 
Officer 

30 Bribery (s82 Criminal Code) Left jurisdiction prior to 
sentencing 

Public Officer 2 Stealing as a servant (ss371 & 
378 Criminal Code) 

To be sentenced 6/8/10 

Public Officer 6 Stealing as a servant (ss371 & 
378 Criminal Code) 

To be sentenced 24/8/10

Total 146 convictions 

Table 9: Convictions Against Individuals 
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Use of Statutory Powers 

[124] Table 10 details the statutory powers used by the Commission in the conduct 
of its misconduct function. 

 

CCC Act and Statutory Powers12 2008-2009 2009-2010 

Section 94: Power to obtain information from a public 
authority or officer 15 34713 

Section 95: Power to obtain documents and other things 152 49914 

Section 96: Power to summon witnesses to attend and 
produce things 51 49 

Section 100: Power to enter and search public premises 9 7 

Section 101: Search warrants 15 14 

Section 103: Assumed identity approval 22 2 

Section 121: Authority to conduct controlled operation 2 4 

Section 123: Authority to conduct integrity testing 
programmes 4 4 

Section 148: Arrest warrants 0 0 

Surveillance Devices Act 1998 warrants15 9 8 

Surveillance Devices Act 2004 (Cth)16 3 0 

Telecommunications (Interception) Act 1979 (Cth) 
warrants 49 4017 

Total 345 974 
Table 10: Use of Statutory Powers 

 
 
 

                                            
12 Reported in accordance with section 91(2) of the Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003. 
13 This increase was due to the issuing of a s 94 notice to all state public sector agencies and local 
government authorities during its investigation into the purchase of toner cartridges by public officers. 
14 This increase was due to the issuing of a s 95 notice to all state public sector agencies and local 
government authorities during its investigation into the purchase of toner cartridges by public officers. 
15 Includes authorised extensions 
16 Includes authorised extensions 
17 Includes four combined telecommunications interception and stored communications warrants. 
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Misconduct Function Examinations (Hearings) 

[125] Table 11 shows the number of hearings and hearing days which were held 
as a part of Commission investigations. 

 

 2008-2009 2009-2010 

Hearings Matters Days Matters Days 

Public 1 45 1 3 

Private 20 27 9 22 

Total 21 72 10 25 
Table 11: Misconduct Function Examinations (Hearings) 
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FINANCIAL TARGETS: Actual results versus budget targets 
 

Net Cost of Services 

[126] The net cost of services for 2009-2010 was $24.463 million compared to 
$25.419 million in 2008-2009 which was $0.956 million or 3.8% lower than in 
2008-2009.  This was mainly due to savings from employment expenses 
resulting from vacant positions together with lower depreciation and 
amortisation expenses for the 2009-2010 financial year. 

[127] The Commission’s total cost of services (expense limit) for 2009-2010 was 
$24.550 million against an actual cost of service for 2008-2009 totalling 
$25.534 million.  On a total cost of service basis, this was lower by  
$0.984 million and was mainly due to savings from employment expenses 
resulting from vacant positions together with lower depreciation and 
amortisation expenses for the 2009-2010 financial year. 

 

Financial Position 

[128] The Commission’s net asset position as at 30 June 2010 was  
$21.445 million, as compared to $19.177 million in 2008-2009.  This increase 
is mainly a combination of equity contributions of $2.248 million and an 
accumulated surplus of $0.020 million. 

[129] The Commission is holding ‘cash and cash equivalents’ of $8.399 million as 
part of its cash balance at 30 June 2010 to fund its actuarial assessed ‘leave 
liability’ in respect of employees.  As the Commission has no ‘security of 
tenure’ for its staff engaged on employment contracts up to five years, 
agreement was reached with the Department of Treasury and Finance for the 
Commission to hold this amount to fund the leave liabilities as they emerge. 

[130] The Commission’s reported FTE Level across the financial year was 150. 
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS TARGETS:  Actual results versus 
budget targets 

 

Detailed performance information relating to the Commission’s services is 
contained within the Key Performance Indicators section of this report. 

 

 2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

Variation 

Agency Level Desired Outcome: 

Reduced incidence of public sector misconduct 

 

Key Effectiveness Indicators: 

Percentage of surveyed public officers identified 
as having an appropriate awareness of 
misconduct risks and reporting obligations 

Percentage of Commission recommendations for 
improvement to systems, practices and 
procedures accepted by subject agencies 

Percentage of Appropriate Authority 
Investigations completed by agencies to the 
appropriate standard 

Ratio of misconduct allegations to total public 
officers 

Percentage of misconduct allegations sustained 

 

 

 

 

 

35%18 

 

95% 

 

99% 

 

1:45 

 

25% 

 

 

 

 

87% 

 

100% 

 

99% 

 

1:43 

 

29% 

 

 

 

 

+52%19 

 

+5% 

 

Nil 

 

- 1.4% 

 

+4% 

 

 

                                            
18 In 2008-09 an estimated figure of 30% was established using the 2007-2008 Actual results as a base line 
which then provided a 2009-10 target figure of 35%.  It was anticipated that there would be a reduction in the 
result from the 2008-09 target due to a more stringent method of measurement while capturing data of greater 
value than that of previous years.  This however preceded the new Commission Corruption Prevention 
Structure and methodologies for capturing and measuring data for this Effectiveness Indicator which 
provided the 2009-2010 Actual figure of 87%. 
19 The Commission has realigned its Corruption Prevention activities to achieve greater focus on misconduct 
risks in organisational systems. These changes have necessitated developing new products focussed on 
specific outputs such as organisational reviews and reports.  These cost changes represent a realignment of 
emphasis.  While there has been a considerable cost shift, per activity, there has also been a significant 
efficiency savings in terms of a reduction in per contact costs. 
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 2009-2010 
Target 

2009-2010 
Actual Variation 

Agency Level Desired Outcome: 

Reduced incidence of public sector 
misconduct 

 

 

 

  

Key Efficiency Indicators:    

Percentage of surveyed public officers 
identified as having an appropriate 
awareness of misconduct risks and reporting 
obligations 

35%20 

 

87% +52%21 

 

Percentage of Commission recommendations 
for improvement to systems, practices and 
procedures accepted by subject agencies 

95% 100% +5% 

Percentage of Appropriate Authority 
Investigations completed by agencies to the 
appropriate standard 

99% 99% Nil 

Ratio of misconduct allegations to total public 
officers 

1:45 1:43 -1:4% 

Percentage of misconduct allegations 
sustained 

 

25% 29% +4% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                            
20 In 2008-09 an estimated figure of 30% was established using the 2007-2008 actual results as a base line 
which then provided a 2009-2010 target figure of 35%.  It was anticipated that there would be a reduction in 
the result from the 2008-09 target due to a more stringent method of measurement while capturing data of 
greater value than that of previous years.  This however preceded the new Commission Corruption 
Prevention Structure and methodologies for capturing and measuring data for this Effectiveness Indicator 
which provided the 2009-2010 actual figure of 87%. 
21 The Commission has realigned its Corruption Prevention activities to achieve greater focus on misconduct 
risks in organisational systems. These changes have necessitated developing new products focussed on 
specific outputs such as organisational reviews and reports.  These cost changes represent a realignment of 
emphasis.  While there has been a considerable cost shift, per activity, there has also been a significant 
efficiency savings in terms of a reduction in per contact costs. 
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 2009-2010 
Target 

2009-2010 
Actual Variation 

Service One: 

Corruption prevention and education 
programs, reviews and consultancy services 

 

 

 

  

Key Efficiency Indicators:    

Average cost of misconduct prevention 
education and consultation per contact 

$120 $40 -66% 

(see footnote 
21) 

Average cost of misconduct prevention 
education materials produce 

$25,770 $32,684 +27% 

 

 2009-2010 
Target 

2009-2010 
Actual Variation 

Service Two: 

Oversight and conduct of public sector 
misconduct investigations 

 

   

Key Efficiency Indicators:    

Average time taken to assess a misconduct 
complaint 

15 days 16 days +7% 

Average time taken to review a completed 
Appropriate Authority Investigation 

50 days 56 days +12% 

Average cost per assessment, monitor and 
review action 

$573 $582 +2% 

Average time taken per completed 
Commission misconduct investigation 

54 days 130 days +141% 

Average cost per misconduct matter 
investigated by the Commission 

 

$104,372 $112,800 +8% 
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 2009-2010 
Target 

2009-2010 
Actual Variation 

Agency Level Desired Outcome: 

Reduced incidence of organised crime 

 

   

Key Effectiveness Indicators:    

Percentage of WA Police organised crime 
investigations involving the use of CCC Act 
exceptional powers and fortification warning 
notices where these facilitated the 
achievement of investigative goals 

 

100% 67% -33% 

Service: 

Organised Crime Function 

 

   

Key Efficiency Indicator:    

Average cost per organised crime function 
examination 

 

Nil22 $4,000 +$4,00023 

 

 

 

                                            
22 The Commission is dependent on applications form Commissioner of Police and thus in 1 year there may 
be 6 and another 0.  Therefore, there is no allocated budget. 
23 Encompasses 2 part hearing days. 
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SIGNIFICANT ISSUES IMPACTING THE AGENCY 

 
Current and Emerging Issues and Trends 

[131] In September 2009 the Commission commenced trialling the merger of its 
Corruption Prevention and Education Research Directorate (CPER) with its 
Investigation Review and Complaints Assessment Unit (IRCA). The aims of 
this merger were to develop systems and structures which: 

• focus on organisational systems and cultures of agencies; 

• more effectively utilise the Commission’s investigative resources at 
organisational and systems levels; 

• support these objectives by ensuring the merged directorate: 

• delivers appropriate levels of training and education; 

• maintains an effective assessment and review mechanism; and 

• provides a reliable stream of cases and information to the 
Commission’s Operations Directorate.  

[132] A portfolio approach to the sector was adopted by creating the following 
teams:  

• Education and Child Protection; 

• Justice; 

• Local Government and Regions; 

• Health and Infrastructure; 

• Product Development and Research; and 

• General. 

[133] The trial was successful and in February 2010, the Commissioner approved 
the permanent establishment of a new directorate, the Corruption Prevention 
Directorate.  

[134] A new website became operational in 2009-2010 which is more accessible 
and interactive.  Careers with the commission and Corruption Prevention 
Information Forums remain consistently popular with users. 

[135] The Commission intends to take advantage of developing a new intranet 
system during 2010-2011, which should increase collaboration and 
communication within and between workgroups and facilitate the integration 
of disparate information repositories.  
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 Changes in Written Law 

[136] A review of the operation and effectiveness of the CCC Act was conducted 
during 2007-2008 pursuant to section 226 of this legislation and the resulting 
report was tabled in Parliament. The review made a range of 
recommendations for legislative amendment affecting the Commission’s 
functions. 

[137] Of particular significance were recommendations concerning the expansion 
of the Commission’s jurisdiction to permit it to investigate serious and 
organised crime. During the previous reporting period, the Commission 
participated as a member of a working group, initially convened by the 
Department of the Attorney General, to explore the potential for the progress 
of these recommendations towards legislative amendment. Any resultant 
amendments to the CCC Act are a matter for Parliament. 

[138] On 9 September 2009, the Joint Standing Committee on the Corruption and 
Crime Commission commenced the “Inquiry Into How the Corruption and 
Crime Commission Can Best Work Together With the Western Australian 
Police Force To Combat Organised Crime”. The report of this Committee is 
yet to be tabled24. 

 

                                            
24 The JSCCCC report was tabled on 9 September 2010. 
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 

 

[139] The Corruption and Crime Commission ends the 2009-2010 financial year, 
within approved expense limits with an operating surplus of $0.020 million. 

Equity 

[140] Equity for the period is reported at $21.445 million, up 11.8 percent on the 
previous year, mainly as a result of contributed equity of $2.248 million and 
accumulated surpluses of $0.020 million. 

 

2010 2009
$'000 $'000

Total Assets 27,358 24,973

Total Liabilities 5,913 5,796

Equity 21,445 19,177

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

 

2010 2009
$'000 $'000

Cash from Government 24,434 23,650
Cash from Holding Account 744 1,365

25,178 25,015
Net Cash used in Operating ‐22,893 ‐23,072
Net Cash used in Investing ‐1,100 ‐1,683

‐23,993 ‐24,755
Net Increase in Cash 1,185 260

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

 

 

[141] Cash Assets on hand of $8.399 million for the period, are mainly held to fund 
the emerging actuarial assessed leave liabilities of $4.324 million for 
Commission employees and future capital investments to 2012-2013. 

 

Expenses 

[142] Total operating expenditure for 2009-2010 was $24.550 million.  This 
represents a 3.4 percent decrease on the previous year and mainly reflects 
operating activities at similar levels to 2008-2009, notwithstanding the 
impacts from wage and salaries increases and demand and cost pressures 
from price movements in the sector for goods and services.  These were 
offset by the number of vacant positions across the Commission.  This result 
was $2.970 million under the published budget estimate expense limit. 

  

 

 

2010 2009
$'000 $'000

Total Cost of Services 24,550 25,534

Income State Government 24,483 25,556
Income Other Sources 87 115

24,570 25,671

Surplus (+) / Deficit (‐) 20 137

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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[143] Employee expenses were $16.965 million or 4.6 percent lower as a result of 
positions held vacant during the course of the financial year.  This was due to 
the Commission’s cautionary approach to filling vacancies, at a time of 
review of the current legislation. 

[144] The Commission average FTE across the financial year was 150, while 
actual FTE for June 2010 was 148.  The Commission’s approved FTE limit is 
154. 

[145] The Commission managed all other operating expenses within its authorised 
expense limits and an operating surplus of $0.020 million was the result for 
the financial year. 

 

Capital Investment 

[146] The Commission invested in $1.7 million (including expensed capital) in 
assets to support its operations.  This allowed the Commission to continue its 
investment in operational support equipment and information technology, 
crucial in maintaining the Commission’s expertise and technical investigative 
capacity at levels similar to other oversight agencies across Australia. 

49 



Auditor General

INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION

To the Parliament of Western Australia

CORRUPTION AND CRIME COMMISSION
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

I have audited the accounts, financial statements, controls and key performance indicators of the
Corruption and Crime Commission.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2010, and
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of
Cash Flows for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory Notes.

The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency.

Commissioner's Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators
The Commissioner is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
and the Treasurer's Instructions, and the key performance indicators. This responsibility
includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements and key performance indicators that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and
complying with the Financial Management Act 2006 and other relevant written law.

Summary of my Role
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
financial statements, controls and key performance indicators based on my audit. This was done
by testing selected samples of the audit evidence. I believe that the audit evidence I have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. Further
information on my audit approach is provided in my audit practice statement. This document is
available on the OAG website under "How We Audit".

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements and
key performance indicators is error free. The term "reasonable assurance" recognises that an
audit does not examine all evidence and every transaction. However, my audit procedures
should identify errors or omissions significant enough to adversely affect the decisions of users
of the financial statements and key performance indicators.

Page 1 of 2

4th Floor Dumas House 2 Havelock Street West Perth 6005 Western Australia Tel: 08 9222 7500 Fax: 08 9322 5664

DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 

Independent Audit Opinion 
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Corruption and Crime Commission
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for the year ended 30 June 2010

Audit Opinion
In my opinion,

the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the financial
position of the Corruption and Crime Commission at 30 June 2010 and its financial
performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. They are in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer's Instructions;

the controls exercised by the Commission provide reasonable assurance that the
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of
property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative
provisions; and

the key performance indicators of the Commission are relevant and appropriate to
help users assess the Commission's performance and fairly represent the indicated
performance for the year ended 30 June 2010.

GLEICLARKE
ACT G AUDITOR GENERAL
13 eptember 2010

Page 2 of 2
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°Az

The Hon L W Roberts-Smith RFD QC
COMMISSIONER

, 4,(
Alan Abraham
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

10 September 2010

CORRUPTION AND CRIME COMMISSION
OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Certification of Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2010

The accompanying financial statements of the Corruption and Crime
Commission of Western Australia have been prepared in compliance with
the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts
and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year
ending 30 June 2010 and the financial position as at 30 June 2010.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would
render the particulars included in the financial statements misleading or
inaccurate.

Certification of Financial Statements 
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CORRUPTION AND CRIME COMMISSION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

PODITE-Ei

1 2

-e

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes..

NOTE
2010
$000

2009
$000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 6 16.965 17,777
Supplies and services 7 4,022 3,752
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 1,610 2,168
Accommodation expenses 9 1,868 1,726
Loss on disposal of non-current assetS 11 10 45
Other expenses 10 75 66

Total Cost of Services 24,550 25,534

INCOME'

Revenue

User charges and fees 12 32 27

Other revenue 13 3 48

Total Revenue 35 75

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 11 52 40

Total Gains 52 40

Total Income other than income from State Government 87 115

NET COST OF SERVICES 24,463 25,419

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation 14 (i) 24,467 25,550

Resources received free of charge 14 (ii) 16 6

Total Income from State Government 24,483 25,556

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 20 137

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Total Other Comprehensive Income

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 20 137

7

\
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CORRUPTION AND CRIME COMMISSION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2010

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

NOTE
2010
$000

2009
$000

Cash and cash equivalents 15.26 8,116 7.011

Receivables 16 373 231

Amounts receivable for services 17 562 744

Other current assets 18 183 193

Total Current Assets 9,234 8,179

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Amounts receivable for services 17 13,658 11,939

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19, 26 283 203

Plant and equipment 20 3,962 4,416

Intangible assets 21 221 236

Total Non-Current Assets 18,124 16,794

TOTAL ASSETS 27,358 24,973

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Payables 23 723 380

Provisions 24 3,135 3.115

Total Current Liabilities 3,858 3,495

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 24 2,055 2,301

Total Non-Current Liabilities 2,055 2,301

TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,913 5,796

NET ASSETS 21,445 19,177

EQUITY

Contributed equity 25(a) 15,051 12,803

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 25(b) 6,394 6,374

TOTAL EQUITY 21,445 19,177
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CORRUPTION AND CRIME COMMISSION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes,

NOTE

Balance at 1 July 2008 25
Changes in accounting policy or correction
of prior period errors

Contributed Accumulated
Equity surplusl(deficit)

$000 $000

12,503 6,237

Total
Equity

$000

18,740

Restated balance at 1 July 2008 12,503 6,237 18,740

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Other contributions by owners
Distributions to owners

300

137 137

300

Total 300 137 437

Balance at 30 June 2009 12,803 6,374 19,177

Balance at 1 July 2009
Changes in accounting policy or correction
of prior period errors

12,803 6,374 19,177

Restated balance at 1 July 2009 12,803 6,374 19,177

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Other contributions by owners
Distributions to owners

2,248

20 20

2 248

Total 2,248 20 2,268

Balance at 30 June 2010 15,051 6,394 21,445
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CORRUPTION AND CRIME COMMISSION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

C5,='G

PaiDiTE-D

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

NOTE
2010
S000

2009
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation 22,186 23,350
Capital contributions 2,248 300

Holding account drawdown 744 1.365

Net Cash provided by State Government 25,178 25,015

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Employee benefits (16,753) (17,215)
Supplies and services (3,835) (3,889)

Accommodation (2,165) (2,023)

GST payments on purchases (703) (697)

Other payments (94) (58)

Receipts
User charges and fees 32 27

GST receipts on sales 8 7

GST receipts from taxation authority 614 728

Other receipts 3 48

Net Cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 26 (22,893) (23,072)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets 58 54

Purchase of non-current physical assets (1,158) (1,737)

Net Cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (1,100) (1,683)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,185 260

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 7,214 6,954

Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the period 26 8,399 7,214
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CORRUPTION AND CRIME COMMISSION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

1: AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

General

The Commission's financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010 have been prepared in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting Standards refers to Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).

The Commission has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their
operative dates.

Early adoption of standards

The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by
TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. No Australian
Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended but not operative have been early adopted by the
Commission for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2010.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General Statement

The financial statements constitute general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board as applied by the
Treasurer's Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurers Instructions to vary application
disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurers Instructions are legislative provisions governing the
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Accounting Standards, the Framework,
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board

Where modification is required and has a material or Significant financial effect upon the reported results,
details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost
convention.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values' are rounded to the nearest
thousand dollars ($'000).

The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Commissions accounting policies that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are disclosed at note 3
'Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies'.

The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed at note 4 'Key sources of estimation
uncertainty'.

Reporting Entity

The reporting entity comprises the Commission and entities listed at note 34 'Related and Affiliated Bodies',.

Contributed Equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of. or
prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have
been designated as contributions by owners by Treasurer's Instruction (TI) 955 Contributions by Owners
made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-
reciprocal.

12
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

Income

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the
major business activities as follows:

Sale of Goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership control transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Service Appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at nominal value in the period in which the Commission
gains control of the appropriated funds. The Commission gains control of appropriated funds at the time
those funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the 'Amounts receivable for service (holding
account) held at Treasury.

Gains

Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising
on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.

Plant and Equipment

Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
Items of plant and equipment costing $5.000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets
is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are
immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of

a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
All items of plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the

date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the cost model is used for plant and equipment. All items of

plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful

lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, using rates which are reviewed annually, Estimated

useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Office establishment 10 years
Computer equipment 3 years

Operations equipment 3 - 5 years
Office equipment 3 - 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years
Software 01 3 years

(a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.

-

-

12
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

Intangible Assets

Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing
$50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful
lives. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Initial recognition and measurement
All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at
no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit
(estimated useful life) on the straight line basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets
controlled by the Commission have a finite life and zero residual value. The expected useful lives for each
class of intangible asset are:

Software 3 to 10 years

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of related hardware.

Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as plant and equipment. Software that is
not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software costing less than

$5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.

Web site costs
Web site costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or
development of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to
feasibility studies during the planning phase of a web site, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the
operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a web site, to the extent that they
represent probable future economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised

Impairment of Assets

Plant and equipment, and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each
reporting date. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to

the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the Commission is a not-for-profit entity,
unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair

value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset's depreciation is materially
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each

relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects

the level of consumption or expiration of asset's future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk

from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and

the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair
value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based
evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at

risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications
of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(i) Leases

The Commission has entered into operating lease agreements for buildings and motor vehicles where the
lessors effectively retains all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the items held under the
operating leases.

Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term, as this is representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased properties.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

(j) Financial Instruments

In addition to cash, the Commission has two categories of financial instrument:
Receivables: and
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

These have been disaggregated into the following classes:

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services

Financial Liabilities
Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the
transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there
is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not
material.

(k) Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash
equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or
less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of
changes in value.

(I) Accrued Salaries

The accrued salaries suspense account consists of amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a
period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay
days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.

Accrued salaries (refer note 23 'Payables') represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the
financial year, as the pay date for the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of
the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Commission
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value.

Amounts Receivable for Services (holding account)

The Commission receives funding on an accrual basis that recognises the full annual cash and non-cash cost

of services. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account receivable)
that is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover asset replacement

Receivables

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible
amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any
receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for
uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Commission will not
be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within
30 days.

Payables

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Commission becomes obliged to make future
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as
they are generally settled within 30 days.

Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation Provisions are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

OAG
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

Provisions - Employee Benefits

Annual Leave and Long Service Leave

The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting
period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. Annual and long service leave expected to be settled more than 12 months after the reporting period
is measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Leave
liabilities are in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting period

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels
including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions. In addition, the long
service leave liability also considers the experience of employee departures and periods of service.

The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future

cash outflows.

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the
Commission does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months

after the reporting period.

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) in accordance with legislative requirements
administers public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia.

Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed to new
members or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme also closed

to new members.

The Commission has no liabilities under the Pension or the GSS Schemes. The liabilities for the unfunded
Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS Scheme transfer benefits due to members who transferred from the

Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS Scheme obligations are funded by concurrent
contributions made by the Commission to the GESB. The concurrently funded part of the GSS Scheme is a
defined contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the concurrently

funded GSS Scheme obligations.

Employees commencing employment prior to the 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension

or the GSS Schemes became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS)
Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super
Scheme (GESBS). Both of these schemes are accumulation schemes. The Commission makes concurrent

contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government's
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. These contributions extinguish the liability for

superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESBS Schemes.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS Schemes, and is recouped by the

Treasurer for the employer's share.

Leave Loading

Leave loading is paid to each employee for annual leave on the first payday in December of the relevant year
The amount paid relates to the period 1 January to 31 December of the relevant year, and is part of the
Industrial Agreement of 13 December 2005, that was registered on 19 January 2006.

Provisions Other

Employment On-Costs

Employment on-costs, including workers' compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.
Employment on-costs are included as part of 'Other Expenses' and are not included as part of the
Commission's 'Employee benefits expense'. The related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs

provision'.

(q) Superannuation Expense

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions
paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the West State Superannuation Scheme (VVSS), and the GESB

Super Scheme (GESBS).

The GSS Scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government

',reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent

P '-' c ntributions (defined contributions) made by the agency to GESB extinguishes the agency's obligations to

AUDI -17-a related superannuation liability.
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Resources Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Cost

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as
income and as assets or expenses as appropriate, at fair value.

Where assets or services are received from another State Government agency, these are separately
disclosed under Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Comparative Figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the
current financial year

3 JUDGEMENTS MADE BY MANAGEMENT IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of
accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The
Commission evaluates these judgements regularly. There are no significant judgements made by
management in applying accounting policies.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The Commission makes key estimates and assumptions concerning the future. These estimates and
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Long Service Leave

In calculating the Commissions long service leave provision, several estimations and assumptions have been
made. These include expected future salary rates, salary inflation, discount rates, employee retention rates
and expected future payments. Any changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the
carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

DISCLOSURE OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

Initial Application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Commission has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 that impacted on the Commission:

AASB 101

AASB 2007-10

Presentation of Financial Statements (September 2007). This Standard has been
revised and introduces a number of terminology changes as well as changes to the
structure of the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Comprehensive
Income. It is now a requirement that owner changes in equity be presented separately
from non-owner changes in equity. There is no financial impact resulting from the
application of this revised Standard.

Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101. This
Standard changes the term 'general purpose financial report' to 'general purpose
financial statements', where appropriate in Australian Accounting Standards and the
Framework to better align with IFRS terminology. There is no financial impact resulting
from the application of this Standard.

AASB 2009-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments AASB 4. AASB 7, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038. This Standard
amends AASB 7 and will require enhanced disclosures about fair value measurements
and liquidity risk with respect to financial instruments. There is no financial impact
resulting from the application of this Standard.

AG \
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5. DISCLOSURE OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY (cont.)

Future Impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet Operative

The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI
1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the
Commission has not applied early any following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that
may impact the Commission. Where applicable, the Commission plans to apply these Australian Accounting
Standards application date:

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1. 3. 4.

7, 101, 102, 108, 112. 118, 121, 127, 128, 131. 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and
Interpretations 10 8, 12].

The amendment to AASB 7 requires modification to the disclosure of categories of
financial assets. The Commission does not expect any financial impact when the
Standard is first applied. The disclosure of categories of financial assets in the notes
will change.

Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 Jan 2013

2010 2009

$000 $000

6 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

Wages and salaries '', 13,581 13,799
b,

Superannuation defined contributions plans
Annual leave ''' 1,511 1,552

Long service leave ''''' 524 986

16,965 17,777

Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component.
Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme (contributions paid)
Includes a superannuation contribution component.

Employment on-costs such as workers compensation insurance are included at note 10 'Other Expenses'.
The employment on-costs liability is included at note 24 'Provisions'.

7 SUPPLIES AND SERVICES

Administration 316 356

Communications 507 511

Consultants and contractors 264 155

Equipment repairs and maintenance 809 751

Insurance 265 83

Legal expenses 233 361

Minor plant and equipment 546 385

Motor vehicle expenses 407 363

Other employee expenses 328 358

Publications and printing 120 157

Relocation expenses 1

Research and development costs 39

Travel 185 268

Other expenses 3 3

4,022 3,752

5,

1,349

63 



CORRUPTION AND CRIME COMMISSION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

/0AG
(AU D EC;

12

(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with
the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 24 Provisions'. Superannuation
contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-
costs_

11 NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Cost of Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Computer software 11

Operations equipment and motor vehicles 5 26

Office establishment 33

Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Operations equipment and motor vehicles 58 54

42 (5)

12. USER CHARGES AND FEES

Contributions to government vehicle scheme 32 27

32 27

13. OTHER REVENUE

Expense recoveries from prior years 9

Other revenue 3 39

3 48

8. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSE

(a) Depreciation

2010
$000

2009
$000

Office equipment 32 24
Computer equipment 132 251

Operations equipment and motor vehicles 736 1.063
Office establishment 604 672

1,504 2,010

(1?) Amortisation

Software 106 158

106 158

1,610 2,168

9. ACCOMMODATION EXPENSES

,Lease expense 1,181 1,145
Lease incentive (297) (297)
Electricity and water 249 227
Building outgoings 443 382
Repairs and maintenance 40 44

Parking 166 132

Cleaning 86 93

1,868 1,726

10. OTHER EXPENSES

Employment on-costs (a) 6
Audit fees 75 60
Other

75 66
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Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of services delivered. The appropriation
revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the
depreciation expense for the year.

Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, the Commission recognises
revenues equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably
measured and which would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as assets
or expenses, as applicable Where the contributions of assets or services are in the nature of contributions by
owners, the Commission makes an adjustment direct to equity.

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank 8,112 6,991
Cash on hand and advances 4 20

8,116 7,011

16. RECEIVABLES

Current receivables 89 29
Goods and services tax receivable 284 202

373 231

17. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE FOR SERVICES

Current 562 744

Non-current 13,658 11,939

14,220 12,683

18. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepaid expenditure 183 193

183 193

19. RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Accrued Salaries 283 203

283 203

14 INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

(i) Appropriation received during the year

2010
$000

2009
8000

Service Appropriation 24,467 25.550

(ii) Resources received free of charge

24,467 25,550

Determined on the basis of the following estimates
provided by agencies

DTF Building Management and Works 6

State Solicitors Office 3 1

Landgate 7 5

16 6
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Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting
period are set out in the table below

Office Computer Operations Office
12010 Equipment Equipment Equipment Establishment Total

$000 S'000 S'000 5'000 $'000

Carrying amount at start of
year 100 322 1,243 2.751 4,416

Additions 56 241 759 1,056

Transfers -

Other disposals (5) (1) (6)

Impairment losses

Impairment losses
reversed

Depreciation (32) (132) (736) (604) (1,504)

Carrying amount at end
of year 124 431 1,261 2,146 3,962

Office Computer Operations Office
2009 Equipment Equipment Equipment Establishment Total

5'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 5'000

Carrying amount at start of
year 22 290 1,788 2,797 4,897

Additions 103 283 544 658 1,588

Transfers - -

Other disposals (1) (26) (32) (59)

Impairment losses

Impairment losses
reversed

0,145e4pciation (24) (251) (1,063) (672) (2.010)

icT-PWrOlfig amount at end
s"'22oiTyl_ed 100 322 1,243 2,751 4,416

2010
$000

2009
$000

20 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office Equipment

At cost 223 207
Accumulated depreciation (99) (107)

124 100

Computer Equipment

At cost 1.660 1,582
Accumulated depreciation (1229) (1,260)

431 322

Operations Equipment and Motor Vehicles

At cost 7,097 6,469
Accumulated depreciation (5,836) (5,226)

1,261 1,243

Office Establishment

At cost 6.061 6.062
Accumulated depreciation (3,915) (3,311)

2,146 2,751

3,962 4,416
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There were no indications of impairment to plant and equipment and intangible assets at 30 June 2010

The Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting
period, and at the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use

All surplus assets at 30 June 2010 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written-off.

23. PAYABLES

Trade payables 276 19

Accrued salaries 296 152

Accrued expenditure 151 209

723 380

24 PROVISIONS

(a) Current

Employee benefits provision

Annual leave 1,090 1,179
Long service leave 1,724 1,614

2,814 2,793

Other provisions

Employment on-costs') 24 25
Lease Incentive Liability 297 297

321 322

3,135 3,115

2010
$000

2009
$000

21 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer Software

At cost 1,384 1 460
Accumulated amortisation (1.163) (1 224)

221 236

Reconciliation:

Carrying amount at start of year 236 245
Additions 102 149
Disposals (11) (-)
Amortisation expense (106) (158)

Carrying amount at end of year 221 236

22 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

OAG
AUDITED
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Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at
least 12 months after reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as
follows

Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after reporting date Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will
occur as follows

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs
including workers compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The
associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount, is disclosed in note 10 'Other expenses'.

Movement in Other Provisions

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set
out below.

25. EQUITY

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets
Commission The Government holds the equity interest
Commission on behalf of the community.

(a) Contributed Equity

of the
in the

Opening Balance 12,803 12,503

Capital Contribution 2,248 300

Closing Balance 15,051 12,803

(b) Accumulated Surplus/(Deficit)

Opening Balance 6,374 6,237

Change in accounting policy
(AEC'\ Surplus/(deficit) for the period 20 137

Drra) Closing Balance 6,394 6,374

\\,:t2

24. PROVISIONS (cont.)

(b) Non-Current

2010
$000

2009
$000

Employee benefits provision
Long service leave tb' 1.472 1,422

1,472 1,422

Other provisions

Employment on-costs 14 13

Lease Incentive Liability 569 866

583 879

2,055 2,301

Employment on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of year 38 32

Additional provisions recognised 6

Carrying amount at the end of year 38 38

Lease Incentive

Carrying amount at start of year 1,163 1,460
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (297) (297)

Carrying amount at the end of year 866 1,163

Within 12 months of reporting date 835 904
More than 12 months after reporting date 255 275

1,090 1,179

Within 12 months of reporting date 1.197 1.034

More than 12 months after reporting date 1.810 1.793

3,007 2,827

(a)
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Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. Cash transactions
This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables
Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable
in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form pad ot
the reconciling items.

27. COMMITMENTS

(a) Lease Commitments

At the reporting date, the Commission had the following obligations, not recognised as liabilities, under
non-cancellable operating leases:

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities.
are payable as follows:

Net Cost of Service (24,463), (25,419)

Plus/(minus) non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,610 2.168
Gain/loss from sale of non-current assets (42) 5

Resources received free of charge 16 6

1,584 2:179

(Increase)/Decrease in assets:

Receivables (C) (60) 24

Other current assets 10 5

(50) 29

Increase/(Decrease) in liabilities:
Payables and other liabilities i 343 ,(311)

Current Provisions 20 382

Non Current Provisions (246) 31

Net GST receipts/(payments) '') (82) 38

Change in GST in receivables/payables (b' 1 (1)

36 139

Net cash used in Operating Activities (22,893) (23,072)

2010
$000

2009
$000

26. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of Cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of
Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of
Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 8,116 7.011

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 283 203

8,399 7,214

Within one year 1.320 1,263
Later than one year and no later than five years. 2,708 3.147

Later than five years 267

4,295 4,410

Motor vehicles 230 166

Office accommodation 4,065 4,244

4,295 4,410
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2010 2009

$000 $000

27. COMMITMENTS (cont.)

(b) Capital Expenditure Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts
reported in the financial statements are due and payable.

Plant and equipment 185

185

Commitments in relation to capital expenditure at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, are
payable as follows:

Within one year 185

28 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

Contingent Liabilities

The Commission has no contingent liabilities

Contaminated Sites

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Commission is required to report known and suspected
contaminated sites to the Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC). In accordance with
the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment and
environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated - remediation required or possibly
contaminated - investigation required, the Commission may have a liability in respect of

investigation or remediation expenses.

The Commission has no known or suspected contaminated sites.

Contingent Assets

The Commission has no contingent assets.

29. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER BALANCE DATE

The Commission is not aware of any event or events occurring after the reporting period, which would
materially, effect the operating results as disclosed in the financial statements during the current or
future reporting periods.

30 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT

(a) Significant variances between actual results for 2010 and 2009

Details and reasons for significant variations between the total actual results with the corresponding
results of the preceding year are detailed below. Significant variations are considered to be those greater
than 10% and $50,000.

185

2010 2009
ACTUAL COMPARISON Actual Actual Variance Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Expenses
Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,610 2,168 (558) (25 74%)

Expenses
The variation in depreciation and amortisation expense reflects the higher threshold for expensed capital and the
lower procurement program in 2009-10.
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30 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT (cont.)

(b) Significant variances between estimated and actual result for the 2010

Details and reasons for significant variations between the total actual results with the annual estimates
are detailed below. Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% and $50,000.

2010 2010
ACTUAL V ESTIMATES Actual Estimates Variance Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Income from State Government
Service Appropriation 24,467 27,500 (3,033) (11 03%)

Expenses
The variation in supplies and services mainly reflects increased expenses associated with insurances information
technology costs, building maintenance costs and expensed capital for 2009-10.

The variation in depreciation and amortisation expense reflects the higher threshold for expensed capital and the
lower procurement program in 2009-10

The variation in accommodation expense reflects the estimated full cost of rental and does not take into account the
lease incentive payment.

The variation in other expenses reflects unallocated budget expense savings for the year 2009-10.

Income from State Government
The variation reflects expenditure savings at Commission level that resulted in a lower drawdown of appropriation for
2009-10.

31 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Financial instruments held by the Commission are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash
equivalents, receivables and payables. The Commission has limited exposure to financial risks. The
Commission's overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Commission's receivables defaulting on their
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Commission.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for
impairment as shown in the table at Note 31(c) 'Financial Instruments Disclosures' and Note 16
'Receivables'.

Credit risk associated with the Commission's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is
the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the
Commission trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Commission has policies in
place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the
Commission's exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Commission is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due

The Commission is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Commission has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its
commitments_

Expenses
Supplies and services 4,022 2 145 1,877 87.51%
Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,610 3 048 (1,438) (47.18%)
Accommodation expense 1,868 2,295 (427) (18.61%)
Other expenses 75 1,875 (1,800) (96.00%)
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont.)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates
will affect the Commission's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Commission
does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks Other than as
detailed in the Interest rate sensitivity analysis table at Note 31(c), the Commission is not exposed to
interest rate risk because apart from minor amounts of restricted cash, all other cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and have no borrowings.

Categories of Financial Instruments

In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from ATO (statutory receivable)

Financial Instrument disclosures

Credit risk and Interest Rate Risk Exposures

The following table disclose the Commission's maximum exposure to credit risk, interest rate exposures
and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Commission's maximum exposure to credit risk at the
reporting period is the carrying amount of the financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the
ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is
based on information provided to senior management of the Commission.

The Commission does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the
financial assets it holds.

The Commission does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would
have otherwise resulted in them being past due or impaired.

Contractual Maturity Dates
Weighted Variable Less 1 to 5 More Non
average interest than years than interest

As at 30 June 2010
effective
interest

rate 1 year 5 years bearing

rate $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
°A

2010
$000

2009
$000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8.116 7,011

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 283 203
Receivables 14,309 12.712

Financial Liabilities

Payables 723 380

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and Cash
Equivalents 8,116 8,116

Restricted Cash 283 283

Receivables 89 89

Amount Receivable for
Services - 14,220 14,220

Total financial assets - 22,708 22,708

oral

000
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont.)

Liquidity Risk

The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. The contractual
maturity amounts are representative of the undiscounted amounts at the end of the reporting period. The
table includes interest and principal cash flows_ An adjustment has been made where material.

Fair values

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are
carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair
value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

Contractual Maturity Dates
Weighted Variable Less 1 to 5 More Non
average interest than years than interest

As at 30 June 2009
effective
interest

rate 1 year 5 years bearing

rate 5000 S000 5000 5.000 $000
%

Contractual Maturity Dates
Weighted Variable Less 1 to 5 More Non Tc

average interest than years than interest

As at 30 June 2010
effective
interest

rate 1 year 5 years bearing

rate 5000 S000 5000 $000 $000 S1
%

Contractual Maturity Dates
Weighted Variable Less 1 to 5 More Non Total
average interest than years than interest

As at 30 June 2009
effective
interest

rate 1 year 5 years bearing

rate 5000 5000 $000 5000 5000 $'000
%

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and Cash
Equivalents 7,011 7.011

Restricted Cash 203 203

Receivables 29 29
Amount Receivable for
Services 12,683 12.683
Total financial assets 19,926 19,926

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from ATO (statutory receivable)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Payables 723 723
Total financial liabilities 723 723

Total

$ 000

tal

00

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Payables 380 380

Total financial liabilities 380 380

T
I

-
-
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32. REMUNERATION OF MEMBERS OF THE ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY AND SENIOR OFFICERS

(a) Remuneration of Members of the Accountable Authority

The numbers of members of the Accountable Authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation,
non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are

2010 2009
$000 $000

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of
members of the Accountable Authority.

No members of the Commission are members of the Pension Scheme.

(b) Remuneration of Senior Officers

The number of Senior Officers other than members of the Accountable Authority, whose total of fees,
salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the
following bands are:

34. RELATED AND AFFILIATED BODIES
Related Bodies

The Commission has no related bodies at the reporting date.
Affiliated Bodies

The Commission has no affiliated bodies at the reporting date,

35. SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Write-Offs
Public property written-off 10

OAG 10
hIJJi at.)

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of
senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

33. REMUNERATION OF AUDITOR

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect to
the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance
Indicators 36 35

36 35

30/06/10 30/06/09

40,001 50,000 2

50,001 60,000 1

60,001 70,000 1

80,001 90,000 1

100,001 110,000 1

140,001 150,000 1

150,001 160,000 1

160,001 170,000 1

180,001 190,000 1

190,001 200,000 1

260,001 270,000 1

330,001 340,000 1

360,001 370,000 1

8 6

30/06/10 30/06/09
340,001
350,001

350,000
360,000

1

1

1 1

Total Remuneration for Members of the Accountable Authority 347 354

Total Remuneration of Senior Officers 1,115 1,099

-
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The Hon L W Roberts-Smith RFD QC
COMMISSIONER
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CERTIFICATION OF PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
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I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are
relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Corruption and Crime
Commission's performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Commission
for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.
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Certification of Key Performance Indicators 
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

[147] Treasurer’s Instruction 904 requires that agencies disclose performance 
information in their annual reports, including Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) of effectiveness and efficiency and the relationship between 
Government Goals, Agency Level Government Desired Outcomes and the 
agency’s services. This assists all stakeholders, including Parliament, the 
community and the agency itself, to assess the performance and value of the 
services delivered in the pursuit of Government outcomes. KPIs must be 
relevant, appropriate, fairly represent the indicated performance and require 
certification by the Office of the Auditor General in accordance with 
Treasurer’s Instruction 905. 

[148] The Commission’s Outcome Based Management (OBM) structure, 
incorporating Agency Level Government Desired Outcomes and KPIs for the 
delivery of its services, was initially developed in accordance with Better 
Planning, Better Services: A Strategic Planning Framework for the Western 
Australia Public Sector in consultation with stakeholders including the 
Department of Treasury and Finance. It was endorsed in March 2006 by the 
Outcome Structure Review Group. The Commission’s performance was 
reported against this OBM structure for the first time in its 2005-2006 annual 
report. 

[149] Following the release of Better Planning: Better Futures, A Framework for the 
Strategic Management of the Western Australia Public Sector by the 
Department of the Premier and Cabinet in September 2006, the Commission 
ensured that its structures remained aligned with that document’s revised 
Goals and Strategic Outcomes. 

[150] In November 2008, the Commission commenced a review of its OBM 
structure. Following the Commission’s consultation with key stakeholders, the 
Outcome Structure Review Group met on 27 January 2009 and endorsed the 
Commission’s revised structure to apply for the 2008-2009 reporting period. 

[151] In March 2009, a revised set of Government Goals was endorsed by the 
Premier for the 2009-2010 budget process. These new goals replaced the 
former Government Goals and Strategic Outcomes of the earlier Better 
Planning frameworks. The Commission has aligned its service delivery within 
the new framework. 

[152] While serving to indicate the Commission’s level of efficiency and 
effectiveness in the delivery of its services, the KPIs are also valuable in 
assessing the level of the incidence of misconduct within the public sector, as 
well as the public sector’s knowledge of how to prevent its occurrence. The 
KPIs addressing the Commission’s facilitation and oversight of the Western 
Australia Police’s use of exceptional and enhanced powers in its organised 
crime investigations also assist in the assessment of the effectiveness of the 
State’s legislation specifically intended to combat and reduce organised 
crime. 
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[153] The 2009-2010 reporting period is the fifth for which the Commission has 
reported against Outcome Based Management structures. 

[154] During the 2009-2010 reporting period the Commission trialled and then 
implemented the amalgamation of the previous Corruption Prevention 
Education and Research Directorate with the Investigations Review 
Complaints and Assessment Unit into a new Corruption Prevention 
Directorate.   

[155] Following this process, the Commission seconded a senior public officer to 
commence the review of the current KPI’s in light of the new environment. 
Following the officer’s report, the Commission intends to revisit the current 
KPI’s in the 2010-2011 reporting period and  

 

Services 

[156] The Commission’s functions are prescribed by the CCC Act. These functions 
relate to the agency’s services and OBM structure. They are the: 

• corruption prevention function; 

• misconduct function; and 

• organised crime functions. 

 

Measuring Our Performance 

[157] The Commission measures its performance through a combination of the 
application of internal statistical data and the analysis of an independently 
conducted external customer survey. The relevant statistical data have been 
extracted from internal management systems and complement the use of 
objective, independent survey data. 

[158] The Commission maintains a Case Management and Intelligence System 
which hosts the data in relation to its misconduct complaint and investigation-
related activities. 

 

Outcome Based Management 

[159] The Commission’s three services are each subordinate to Agency Level 
Government Desired Outcomes, of which the Commission has two. These 
relate upwardly within the Outcome Based Management framework to one 
Government Goal at the top of the hierarchy. The following section displays 
the relationships between the component OBM elements within the strategic 
framework. 
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GOVERNMENT GOAL: Outcomes Based Service Delivery 

[160] Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the 
benefit of all Western Australians 

 

Agency Level Government Desired Outcome: 
• Reduced incidence of public sector misconduct 

Service One: 
• Corruption prevention and education programs, reviews and 

consultancy services (prevention and education function) 

Service Two: 
• Oversight and conduct of public sector misconduct 

investigations (misconduct function) 
 

 

Agency Level Government Desired Outcome: 
• Reduced incidence of organised crime 

Service Three: 
• Organised crime function 

 

Effectiveness Indicators 

[161] The extent to which outcomes are achieved through the delivery of services 
is measured through effectiveness indicators. The Commission has six 
effectiveness indicators in its OBM structure. 

 

Outcome: Reduced incidence of public sector misconduct 

[162] This agency level outcome is derived in part from section 17(1) of the CCC 
Act, which states that ‘[t]he Commission has a function (the “prevention and 
education function”) of helping to prevent misconduct’. Consequently, it 
constitutes a core element of the Commission’s business to which the 
Corruption Prevention Directorate25 is dedicated. 

[163] Since its establishment in 2004, the Commission has continued its work in 
cooperation with public authorities to build their capacity to minimise and deal 
with misconduct. The Commission achieves this through a range of activities 
including delivering presentations, conducting workshops and consulting with 
agencies on corruption prevention issues, undertaking inquiries and reviews 
on corruption related matters, and producing and distributing corruption 
prevention educational materials and publishing its reports. 

                                            
25 Previously the Corruption Prevention Education and Research Directorate. 
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[164] The outcome is also derived from section 18(1) of the CCC Act, which states 
that ‘[i]t is a function of the Commission (the “misconduct function”) to ensure 
that an allegation about, or information or matter involving, misconduct is 
dealt with in an appropriate way’. Due to the nature of this outcome, its 
associated service is allocated the largest proportion of the Commission’s 
staff and resources. 

[165] The Commission’s misconduct allegation oversight activities, involving the 
assessment of complaints and the monitoring and review of agencies’ 
internal misconduct investigations (known as ‘appropriate authority 
investigations’), result in feedback to the agencies on the standard of their 
investigations. This contributes significantly to the sector’s capacity to deal 
with misconduct effectively. 

[166] This interaction, in combination with the Commission’s provision of corruption 
prevention services, affects the number of complaints received from 
individual agencies and the entire public sector. This also provides the 
Commission and stakeholders with a picture of the level of public officer 
misconduct that is occurring and the agencies’ abilities to adequately deal 
with misconduct allegations appropriately. 

 

Effectiveness Indicators 

1: Percentage of surveyed public officers identified as having an appropriate 
awareness of misconduct risks and reporting obligations 

 

Effectiveness Indicator 2008-09 
Actual 

2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

Percentage of surveyed public officers identified 
as having an appropriate awareness of 
misconduct risks and reporting obligations 

 

94% 35%26 87% 

[167] As in 2008/09, the Commission, in consultation with independent, external 
consultants, developed an on-line survey, potentially available to all public 
officers as respondents, containing a range of scenario based questions 
which allowed it to objectively establish individual public officers’ misconduct 
related knowledge levels. 

                                            
26 In 2008-09 an estimated figure of 30% was established using the 2007-2008 Actual results as a base line 
which then provided a 2009-2010 target figure of 35%.  It was anticipated that there would be a reduction in 
the result from the 2008-09 target due to a more stringent method of measurement while capturing data of 
greater value than that of previous years.  This however preceded the new Commission Corruption 
Prevention Structure and methodologies for capturing and measuring data for this Effectiveness Indicator 
which provided the 2009-2010 Actual figure of 87%. 
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[168] The Commission also included in the survey additional questions addressing 
misconduct prevention issues and provided the opportunity for respondents 
to provide general and specific feedback about public sector misconduct and 
the Commission’s performance of its role. 

[169] All responses were confidential and no information which could identify 
individual respondents was provided to the Commission by the consultants. 
Public officers in all state and local public sector agencies were invited to 
complete the survey. 

[170] Incorporating its primary KPI measurement objective, the survey served three 
purposes within the corruption prevention and education function. It provided 
information that assists the Commission: 

• appreciate the different levels of understanding of misconduct issues 
in the wider public sector; 

• identify future issues for attention in its misconduct prevention 
education programmes; and 

• assess the Commission’s effectiveness in making public officers 
aware of what constitutes misconduct. 

Analysis 

[171] The information about the survey, and the survey web-link itself, was sent to 
the most senior representatives of 186 government agencies and 141 local 
government authorities. This included a request that the survey be made 
available to all public officers by those representatives. 

[172] A sample size of 383 respondents from an estimated population of 160,000 
was required to meet the statistical standard of a 95 percent confidence level 
and +/- 5 percent sampling error interval. The sample achieved was 4,055 
respondents, resulting in a sampling error of +/- 1.52 percent at a 95% level 
of confidence. Therefore, generalisations about the population based on the 
sample can be made with confidence.  The number of responses was a large 
increase compared to 2008/09, when 2007 responses were received. 

[173] The 11 scenarios limited respondents to offer either a correct or incorrect 
response. The average number of scenarios answered correctly by public 
officers was 9.44.   

[174] Approximately 87 percent of the 4,055 respondents achieved an ‘appropriate’ 
awareness rating by correctly answering eight or more of the 13 scenario 
questions (60 percent or greater correct responses).  This is a decrease from 
2008/09, when 94% of respondents achieved an ‘appropriate’ awareness 
rating.   

[175] It should be noted that the figures are not directly comparable as the 
scenarios were different for each survey and there was a greater degree of 
difficulty in some scenarios.  Comparisons made with equivalent 2008/09 
scenarios suggest, however, that in general, awareness of misconduct has 
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improved, as there was an improvement in relation to three of the four 
scenarios which had a high incorrect rating in 2008/09. 

[176] Interestingly, the scenarios for which 50 percent or more respondents 
provided incorrect answers were all for questions in which the respondents 
believed the scenario behaviour to constitute misconduct, when it fact it was 
not so.  This pattern is exactly the same as seen in 2008/09. 

[177] Only 9% of respondents considered themselves to be “well informed” about 
misconduct risks in their agency, the same figure as in 2008/09.  A further 
55% considered themselves to be “adequately informed.”   

[178] Seventy-seven percent of all respondents were aware that the Chief 
Executive Officer or head of agency has a legal obligation to report 
suspected misconduct to the Commission, and 95 percent of respondents 
identified that any public officer can report misconduct directly to the 
Commission. 

[179] In addition to the survey questionnaire, after its completion the Commission 
placed on its website the answers to the scenarios and the reporting 
obligations questions.  All public sector agencies were advised of this. The 
Commission thus utilised this opportunity to not only provide respondents 
with the correct answers but also to use the KPI survey as an opportunity to 
deliver educational services to the public sector. 

 

2: Percentage of Commission recommendations for improvement to 
systems, practices and procedures accepted by subject agencies 

 

Effectiveness Indicator 2008-09 
Actual 

2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

Percentage of Commission recommendations for 
improvement to systems, practices and 
procedures accepted by subject agencies 

 

96% 95% 100% 

 

[180] As part of its prevention and education function, the Commission makes 
recommendations to public authorities for improvements in relation to 
misconduct issues. These recommendations, which are made pursuant to 
section 17(2)(b) of the CCC Act, usually follow a misconduct investigation or 
review of an agency’s misconduct management mechanisms or misconduct 
resistance systems. Accordingly, these recommendations are a vital aspect 
of the Commission’s consultation work with public authorities, which are not 
obliged to accept those recommendations. 
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Analysis 

[181] The Commission made nine recommendations in three reports during 
2009/2010. All nine recommendations (100%) were accepted. At the end of 
the financial year, of those nine recommendations, three had been 
implemented. Implementation of the remaining six was underway but had not 
yet been completed.  

[182] Since its inception, the Commission has made 160 recommendations in 24 
reports. At the end of the financial year, 151  (94%) of these had been 
accepted, of which 129 had been implemented and nine have not been 
accepted.  

 

3: Percentage of Appropriate Authority Investigations completed by 
agencies to the appropriate standard 

 

Effectiveness Indicator 2007-08 
Actual 

2008-09 
Actual 

2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

Percentage of Appropriate Authority 
Investigations completed by 
agencies to the appropriate 
standard 

 

98% 100%27 99% 99% 

 

[183] This effectiveness indicator is measured through the process of the 
Commission’s review of completed misconduct investigations undertaken by 
appropriate authorities (‘appropriate authority investigations’). This is a core 
and significant activity. While there may be minor deficiencies in agencies’ 
analyses and/or presentation of their Appropriate Authority Investigations 
submitted to the Commission, the Commission’s major focus is on ensuring 
that ‘appropriate authority investigations’ are completed to the ‘appropriate 
standard’. This means that they present findings and recommendations that 
are relevant and appropriate, and that the investigation is conducted using 
the Australian Complaint Handling Standard (AS 4269-1995) as a guide. 
Those ‘appropriate authority investigations’ that fail to meet the standard are 
generally returned to the relevant agency, along with appropriate advice, for 
resubmission. 

 

 

 

                                            
27 99.69% 
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Analysis 

[184] The rate of adequate investigations in this financial year was 99%. In other 
words only 1% of appropriate authority investigations were deemed to be 
inadequate. In determining whether an investigation is adequate the 
Commission considers factors such as whether: 

• relevant witnesses were interviewed; 

• relevant evidence was gathered; 

• the evidence obtained was appropriately considered; and 

• the outcomes reached were reasonable in the circumstances.  

[185] The process by which the Commission determines whether an investigation 
is adequate is often complex. In some cases, the investigation provided to 
the Commission pursuant to section 41 of the Act does not meet the required 
standard or may presented in a way that does not allow the Commission to 
form a view about its adequacy. In these cases, the Commission will often 
seek more information or will ask the agency concerned to conduct further 
inquiries. The Commission is developing a new process that will allow it to 
capture more detailed information about the quality of investigations and 
better capture the Commission’s process for determining the adequacy or 
otherwise of appropriate authority investigations.  

[186] With the establishment of the new Corruption Prevention Directorate, the 
focus of the Commission’s review work is moving to paying greater attention 
to more serious cases.  

 

4: Ratio of misconduct allegations to total public officers 
 

Effectiveness 
Indicator 

2005-06 
Actual 

2006-07 
Actual 

2007-08 
Actual 

2008-09 
Actual 

2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

Ratio of misconduct 
allegations to total 
public officers 

 

1:53 1:60 1:56 1:43 1:45 1:43 

 

[187] This effectiveness indicator measures the allegations assessed by the 
Commission in relation to the total number of public sector FTE positions 
(full-time equivalent employees). It provides a snapshot of misconduct 
allegations across the wider public sector. The Commission’s current 
jurisdiction is approximately 138,910 public officers. This figure includes 
public sector officers, university staff and State and local government elected 
officers and employees. 
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[188] This measure is a product of the Commission’s analysis of misconduct 
allegations across the public sector. For its strategic purposes, the 
Commission divides its jurisdiction into agency sector groupings. The ratio of 
misconduct allegations received relating to specific agency sectors is 
calculated by dividing the number of agency sector FTE positions by the 
number of allegations received, resulting in a number of employees per 
allegation. This ratio may assist in the identification of high or low incidences 
of reported alleged misconduct and potential misconduct trends within 
particular agency sectors. 

[189] The analysis of movement in the results of this effectiveness indicator is 
complex. The performance of the Commission’s prevention and education 
function may lead to an increase in allegations in parallel with an increase in 
the public sector and community’s awareness of what constitutes 
misconduct, and how it should be reported. Through the same process, 
potential complainants may become aware that their allegations fall outside 
of the Commission’s jurisdiction and subsequently report them to another 
authority or not at all. Concurrently, the Commission’s prevention and 
education activities, combined with the deterrent effect of prosecutions on 
charges resulting from Commission investigations and the wide exposure 
that may result from the conduct of public hearings and tabling of reports in 
Parliament, may contribute to a reduction in the actual incidence of 
misconduct and subsequently decrease the number of allegations. 

[190] Logically, the ideal long-term outcome is the receipt of fewer complaints due 
to a lower incidence of actual misconduct. 

Analysis 

[191] This represents one misconduct allegation for every 43 public officers and 
was close to the target figure of 1:45. There was effectively no change in this 
ratio, consistent with the fact that misconduct notification  and complaints 
received was relatively unchanged from 2008-2009.  

 

5: Percentage of misconduct allegations sustained 
 

Effectiveness Indicator 2007-08 
Actual 

2008-09 
Actual 

2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

Percentage of misconduct 
allegations sustained 

23% 29% 25% 29% 

 
[192] The percentage of misconduct allegations sustained KPI assists the work of 

the Commission in several ways. First, it identifies the actual incidence of 
reported misconduct that has been committed by public officers. Second, it 
assists the Commission in the assessment of agencies’ misconduct reporting 
standards and of complainants’ comprehension of what constitutes 
misconduct. An increasing proportion of substantiated allegations may 

85 



indicate that both agencies and complainants have a maturing knowledge of 
what matters are appropriate to report and are within the Commission’s 
jurisdiction. Second, the Commission uses this KPI to provide an insight into 
the incidence of actual misconduct within the various agency sectors and 
their relative proportions within the wider public sector. 

Analysis 

[193] This figure, constituting the known incidences of reported public officer 
misconduct for which ‘appropriate authority investigations’ were completed 
during the year, is the same as the previous financial year.  

 

Outcome: Reduced incidence of organised crime 

[194] This agency level outcome is derived from the first of the Commission’s two 
purposes under the CCC Act, ‘to combat and reduce the incidence of 
organised crime’ (section 7A(a)). Service Three, the mechanism by which the 
Commission is able to pursue the achievement of this outcome, takes the 
form of its ‘organised crime functions’ (section 21). The Commission’s 
functions include its ability to authorise and oversee the Western Australia 
Police’s access to investigative powers not ordinarily available to it for 
application in particular organised crime investigations. 

[195] The Commission’s delivery of its Service Three may only be initiated by 
application from the Commissioner of Police. Therefore, Commission 
resources are only diverted to Service Three in response to any such 
applications. 

 

6: Percentage of WA Police organised crime investigations involving 
the use of CCC Act exceptional powers and fortification warning 
notices where these facilitated the achievement of investigative goals 

 

Effectiveness Indicator 2008-09 
Actual 

2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

Percentage of WA Police organised crime 
investigations involving the use of CCC Act 
exceptional powers and fortification warning 
notices where these facilitated the achievement 
of investigative goals 

100% 100% 67% 

 

[196] This KPI measures the practical effect of the use of exceptional powers for 
the investigation of organised crime available to Western Australia Police 
under the CCC Act. The Commissioner of Police can only access the 
exceptional powers to facilitate the investigation of organised crime once the 

86 



Corruption and Crime Commissioner has made an exceptional powers 
finding (approval).28  

[197] Applications from the Commissioner of Police, and any resulting exceptional 
powers findings by the Commissioner of the Corruption and Crime 
Commission, are made following appropriate consideration by the 
responsible party in regard to their individual roles under the CCC Act. While 
both parties must ensure they believe the use of these powers is appropriate 
and will be effective towards achieving positive investigative outcomes for the 
State in its fight against organised crime, the effectiveness of these powers 
may only be tested once they have been exercised. 

[198] During this financial year the Commission received four exceptional powers 
applications from the Commissioner of Police. Three of those applications 
were granted, resulting in three exceptional powers findings. No fortification 
warning notices were applied for by WA Police.   

[199] Further detail on exceptional powers findings and associated use of any 
organised crime function powers is not published in order to protect the 
integrity of WA Police’s organised crime investigations. 

Analysis 

[200] During the financial reporting period, the Commissioner of Police made four 
applications for the granting of exceptional powers.  One application wasn’t 
granted; the other three were successful with three exceptional powers 
findings made.  Following the exercise of those powers, feedback was sought 
and obtained from police as to whether the exercise of the powers facilitated 
the achievement of their investigative goals.  The feedback is ascertained 
through both survey and consultative processes.  In one particular matter, the 
police were of the opinion that the exercise of the powers had not achieved 
their investigative intent and therefore was not effective.  This has meant that 
the Actual for the period was 67% a decrease of 33% on the 2008-09 Actual 
and 2009-2010 targets.  This was the first situation in which this has 
occurred. 

 

Efficiency Indicators 

Service One: Corruption prevention and education programs, reviews and 
consultancy services (prevention and education function) 

[201] The Commission’s Service One involves its ‘prevention and education 
function’.29 In order to apply the KPIs related to this service, the costs 
associated with the conduct of corruption prevention activities are divided 
across two component areas on the basis of the efforts undertaken towards 
the conduct of each of these activities during the reporting period. These 
areas are: 

                                            
28 See section 46 of the Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 
29 Refer section 17 of the Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 
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• Education: involving the provision of corruption prevention education 
seminars, workshops and consultancy services to public sector 
agencies and the community, as well as the conduct of inquiries, 
reviews and research around corruption prevention themes and 
misconduct management mechanisms. 

• Materials: involving the production of brochures, DVDs and other 
items for corruption prevention educational purposes. 

[202] The costs within each of these core activity areas are then allocated in 
accordance with the work undertaken in those areas on the basis of the 
actual services delivered or materials developed. 

 

Service One Efficiency Indicators 

Average cost of misconduct prevention education and consultation per 
contact 
 

Efficiency Indicator 2008-09 
Target 

2008-09 
Actual 

2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

Average cost of misconduct prevention 
education and consultation per contact 

 

N/A30 $61 $120 $40 

 

[203] This KPI measures the costs associated with the activities classed as 
‘education’ for performance management purposes. This area constitutes a 
major component of the corruption prevention and education services that 
the Commission delivers to the public sector and the community. Contacts 
include participants attending Commission seminars and consulting with 
Commission staff on individual corruption prevention issues and individual 
‘hits’ on the misconduct prevention materials available on the Commission’s 
website. 

Analysis 

[204] The Commission has realigned its Corruption Prevention activities to achieve 
greater focus on misconduct risks in organisational systems. These changes 
have necessitated developing new materials focussed on specific outputs 
such as organisational reviews and reports.  This change of focus has 
involved a significant shift of resources within the Corruption Prevention 
Directorate from education and consultancy services to the development of 
these materials.  Despite this shift in resource allocation, the directorate has 

                                            
30 Not applicable. This is a new KPI introduced for the 2008-2009 reporting period.  No historic, comparative 
data is available prior to the 2008-09 financial year.  
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provided roughly the same level of education and consultancy services as 
the previous financial year resulting in a significant fall in the cost per 
contract.  

 

Average cost of misconduct education materials produced 
 

Efficiency Indicator 2008-09 
Target 

2008-09 
Actual 

2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

 

Average cost of misconduct 
education materials produced 

 

 

$22,945 

 

$17,993 

 

$25 770 

 

$32 684 

 

[205] The second Service One activity area involves the production and distribution 
of corruption prevention educational materials. These range from educational 
DVDs, research reports, regional outreach package, brochures, conduct of 
forums, newsletters and e-learning materials  

Analysis 

[206]  The Commission has realigned its Corruption Prevention activities to 
achieve greater focus on misconduct risks in organisational systems. These 
changes have necessitated developing new materials focussed on specific 
outputs such as organisational reviews and reports.  This change of focus 
has involved a significant shift of resources within the Corruption Prevention 
Directorate from education and consultancy services to the development of 
these materials.  Despite this shift in resource allocation, the directorate has 
provided roughly the same level of education and consultancy services as 
the previous financial year resulting in a significant fall in the cost per 
contract.  

 
 
Service Two: Oversight and conduct of public sector misconduct 
investigations (misconduct function) 
 

[207] The Commission’s Service Two relates to its ‘misconduct function’. The 
responsibilities of this service fall into two areas: 

• The assessment of complaints and oversight of misconduct 
investigations undertaken by appropriate authorities (public sector 
agencies); and 

• The Commission’s own conduct of investigations into misconduct 
and corruption allegations against public officers. 
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Service Two Efficiency Indicators 

Average cost per assessment, monitor and review action 

 

Efficiency Indicator 2007-08 
Actual 

2008-09 
Actual 

2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

Average cost per assessment, monitor 
and review action 

 

$573 $571 $573 $582 

 

[208] One of the Commission’s core activities involves the assessment of 
complaints and notifications of alleged public officer misconduct. As a result 
of these assessments, one course of action is to refer matters to appropriate 
authorities in order that these agencies conduct investigations into the 
allegations. The conduct of these ‘appropriate authority investigations’ is then 
monitored and, when finalised, reviewed by the Commission to ensure the 
appropriateness of findings. 

[209] This indicator establishes the average cost per activity within the 
Commission’s core service of managing misconduct allegations and 
notifications by calculating the number of matters dealt with in relation to the 
cost of the resources applied to complete them. 

Analysis 

[210] There has been a small reduction in costs per assessment; monitor and 
review for this financial year. This may be as a result of the restructure of the 
Corruption Prevention Directorate and the associated implementation of new 
internal processes, particularly around the SBE process.     

 

Average cost per misconduct matter investigated by the Commission 
 

Efficiency Indicator 2007-08 
Actual 

2008-09 
Actual 

2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

Average cost per misconduct matter 
investigated by the Commission 

 

$87,041 $76,076 $104,372 $112,800
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[211] The nature and complexity of individual investigations undertaken by the 
Commission may vary within and between reporting periods. Straightforward 
investigations may be short and sharp, while more complex inquiries may be 
protracted and resource intensive. 

[212] Investigative resources are allocated on a priority basis. This may result in 
the majority of resources being engaged in a small number of investigations, 
or conversely, deployed across a broad range of matters, at any given time. 
Either end of this investigative spectrum may be prevalent during a particular 
reporting period and may affect the KPI accordingly. 

[213] This indicator captures the misconduct investigations conducted by the 
Commission’s Investigations Unit as well as preliminary investigations and 
inquiries undertaken as part of the complaints assessment and review 
processes. 

Analysis 

[214] During the reporting period the average cost of an investigation rose by 7% in 
comparison to the 2008-2009 figures.  This cost is in part being attributed to 
the increase in average time taken to conduct the investigation due to the 
nature of those investigations as well as both internal and external 
influences.   

 

Average time taken to assess a misconduct complaint 
 

Efficiency Indicator 2008-09 
Target 

2008-09 
Actual 

2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

Average time taken to assess a 
misconduct complaint 

 

N/A31 13 days 16 days 16 days 

[215] This KPI measures the average time spent by the Commission on the 
assessment of individual misconduct complaints and notifications. The 
assessment phase is the first of three potential stages in the processing of 
allegations performed by the Commission pursuant to its misconduct 
function. 

[216] The assessment stage, as its name suggests, involves the assessment of 
misconduct complaints or notifications against a range of criteria which seeks 
to establish whether there exists sufficient and appropriate grounds to justify 
the conduct of a misconduct investigation. The assessment process is 
completed when either the Commission refers the allegations to an 

                                            
31 Not applicable. This is a new KPI which wasn’t implemented prior to the establishment of targets during 
the budget process. 
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‘appropriate authority’ for investigation, the Commission’s own Investigations 
Unit determines to conduct an investigation, or the Commission determines 
that no further action is required. 

Analysis 

[217] As previously noted, there has been a 33% increase in matters received by 
the Commission over the three years from 2006/2007 from 2,150 in 2006/07 
to 2,851 in 2009-2010.  Rather than increasing the resources to deal with this 
rise in matters received, the Commission has improved the efficiency in the 
assessment process.  For example, the Commission’s System Based 
Evaluation process moves much of the focus of the Commission’s oversight 
function from individual cases to organisational systems and cultures.  
Importantly, this new process involves a more streamlined assessment and 
review process.  This process has been in place for WA Police for the last 2 
years and has recently been implemented for the Department of Education, 
Department of Corrective Services, Public Transport Authority and 
Department of Child Protection. This shift in emphasis from a case by case 
approach to a process which focuses on organisation systems is likely to 
result over time. 

 

Average time taken to review a completed Appropriate Authority 
Investigation 

Efficiency Indicator 2008-09 
Target 

2008-09 
Actual 

2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

Average time taken to review a 
completed Appropriate Authority 
Investigation 

N/A32 48 days 50 Days 56 Days 

[218] This KPI measures the average time spent by the Commission reviewing 
completed ‘appropriate authority investigations’. The review stage is the third 
and final phase of the Commission’s activities in the delivery of its 
misconduct function services. 

[219] Once investigations have been completed by the ‘appropriate authorities’ to 
whom the Commission has referred them, the Commission reviews the 
outcomes of those investigations and the processes applied by the agencies 
to ensure that they are appropriate. 

Analysis 

[220] As an outcome of the changes outlined above the Commission will formally 
monitor and review fewer public agency investigations than in previous years.  
This reduction centres around the  less serious misconduct matters, enabling 

                                            
32 Not applicable. This is a new KPI which wasn’t implemented prior to the establishment of targets during 
the budget process. 
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the Commission to focus greater attention on more serious misconduct 
matters.  As a result, and consistent with the financial year result, the time 
taken to review these more serious cases may increase.   

 

Average time taken per completed Commission misconduct investigation 
 

Efficiency Indicator 2007-08 
Actual 

2008-09 
Actual 

2009-10 
Target 

2009-10 
Actual 

Average time taken per 
completed Commission 
misconduct investigation 

66 days 100 days 54 days 130 days 

 

[221] The nature and complexity of individual investigations affect the resources 
required to complete them. Further, the relative priority of investigations will 
influence the distribution of available resources among those matters. While 
a higher level of allocated resources may reduce the time taken to complete 
a particular investigation, this may result in other investigations being 
prolonged until sufficient resources are available for their completion. 

Analysis 

[222] At the time of establishment of the target, the Commission anticipated the 
majority of its investigations would be, on average, shorter and more tightly 
focused than previous reporting periods, particularly following a long cycle of 
long-term, thematic inquiries.  However, the matters that were investigated 
during the reporting period remained of a similarly complex nature requiring 
the dedication of investigative resources over average periods only 
marginally shorter than the recent previous periods.  The nature of 
investigations and the fact that it is difficult to predict the type of allegations 
that will be received by the Commission will continue to make it difficult to 
accurately estimate required time-frames and resources until they unfold 
during investigative processes, therefore also making efficiencies within 
these processes difficult to articulate. 
 

[223] During the reporting period the time taken to conduct inquiries increased by 
30% which is somewhat mitigated by an increase in matters investigated of 
16%.  A number of these inquires have proven to be complex in nature and 
conduct being investigated expansive.  It has also been the situation that a 
number of the investigations have necessitated inquiries in both rural and 
remote localities.  Pro-active activities by the Commission also extended the 
length of some of the investigations.  

 

[224] A number of resourcing factors impacted on the length of investigations as a 
whole during the reporting period.  These factors include both internal and 
external had an influence on the resources available.  For example, a 
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significant amount of operational resources were diverted to address queries 
from the Parliamentary Inspector which amounted to in excess of 1,020 
hours during this reporting period. 

 
 

Service Three: Organised Crime Function 

[225] Service Three relates to the Commission’s ‘organised crime functions’. This 
involves two areas of responsibility: 

• The facilitation and oversight by the Commission of the use of 
exceptional powers by the Western Australia Police in its organised 
crime investigations (these powers include the private examination of 
witnesses by the Commissioner of Police and the provision of 
enhanced powers to the police to enter, search, stop and detain). 

• The facilitation by the Commission of the removal of fortifications by 
Western Australia Police from ‘heavily fortified’ premises habitually 
and collectively used by persons reasonably suspected to be 
involved in organised crime. 

 

Service Three Efficiency Indicators 

Average cost per organised crime function examination 
 

Efficiency Indicator 2008-2009 Actual 2009-2010 Actual

Average cost per organised crime 
function examination 

$11,071 

Per day 

$4,00033 

Per day 

[226] The Commission’s delivery of this service is inherently restricted by the 
nature of the powers provided by the legislation. It cannot proactively 
authorise the use of these powers and relies entirely upon applications from 
the Commissioner of Police to initiate its activities. Therefore, the 
Commission’s performance, and subsequently the assessment of its 
efficiency, is closely linked to and dependent upon the operational priorities 
of the police.  As costs to the Commission are directly linked to applications 
by the Commissioner of Police, a budget is not allocated.  

[227] This KPI measures the average cost to the Commission of facilitating private 
examinations (hearings) of witnesses for Western Australia Police’s 
organised crime investigations. As the duration of examinations and the 
number of witnesses may vary considerably in regard to the individual 

                                            
33 The Commission is dependent on applications from Commissioner of Police and thus in 1 year there may 
be 6 and another 0.  Therefore, there is no allocated budget. 
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exceptional power findings made by the Commission authorising those 
examinations, the KPI result is expressed on a per day basis in order to 
achieve consistency. 

Analysis 

[228] During 2009-2010, there were four exceptional powers applications from the 
Commissioner of Western Australia Police.  Exceptional powers findings 
were made by the Corruption and Crime Commissioner in regard to three 
applications. Resulting from these findings, examinations were held in 
relation to two matters during 2 part days requiring a lower participation of 
Commission officers which is reflected in the minor decrease in cost per day. 
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OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES 
 

Capital Works Projects Incomplete 

[229] The following major capital projects were incomplete: - 

• Case Management System – Investigations; 

• Operational Equipment: Telephone Intercept Project. 

 

Staff Profile 

[230] The Commission is not an SES organisation under the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994. Commission staff may not be appointed for a period 
exceeding five years but are eligible for reappointment. 

[231] During the Reporting period the Commission maintained an average staffing 
level of 150 Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) positions. At 30 June 2010, 148.3 
FTE positions were filled. 

 

 

STAFF LEVEL MALE FEMALE TOTAL 

Level 2 5 5 10 

Level 2/4 0 0 0 

Level 3 1 13 14 

Level 4 7 7 14 

Level 5 3 7 10 

Level 6 18.8 17 35.8 

Level 7 29 7.4 36.4 

Level 8 14.6 1.5 16.1 

Level 9 5 1 6 

Negotiated 2 0 2 

Class 1 2 0 2 

Class 3 1 1 2 

Total 88.4 59.9 148.3 
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Staff Development 

[232] The Commission recognises that its success is a function of its employees’ 
contribution.  Accordingly, the Commission is committed to investing in 
effective development to ensure employees are equipped to meet the 
Commission’s objectives.   

[233] During the year to 30 June 2010, Commission employees participated in 
1,574 hours of formal training and professional development.  These 
activities included technical, professional, behavioural and business skills.  In 
addition the Commission operates an active policy of providing skills 
development through the provision of acting and secondment opportunities.  
67 staff members benefitted from this initiative during the period. 

[234] In addition to professional development activities focussed on building skills, 
knowledge and ability for individual staff members, during the reporting year 
the Commission commenced a series of mandatory information and skills 
workshops for all staff covering the subject matter outlined in the Public 
Sector Commission’s Accountable and Ethical Decision Making framework.  
Sessions focussed on the Personal Behaviour requirements of the 
Commission’s Code of Conduct, and Occupational Health and Safety.  
Emergency and Security training for all staff continued for the period. 

 

Workers’ Compensation 

[235] There were two new Workers’ Compensation claims during the financial year 
ending 30 June 2010, both of which were finalised by the end of the period.  
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GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES 
  

Contracts with Senior Officers 

[236] At the date of reporting, there were no matters to report in respect of senior 
officers of the Commission concerning any interests they may have in 
respect of firms, entities or other bodies that do business with the 
Commission. 

 
 
 

OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 
[237] Section 91(2) of the CCC Act specifies the Commission’s requirement to 

publish certain information in its annual report. Information covering these 
requirements is contained within the Report on Operations section of this 
report. The table below contains the required statistical information. 

 
Activity Number 
Section 46: Organised crime exceptional powers findings 3 
Section 68: Organised crime fortification warning notices 0 
Section 94: Notices to produce a statement of information served 347 
Section 101: Search warrants 14 
Section 103: Approvals for assumed identities 2 
Section 121: Conduct controlled operations 4 
Section 123: Integrity testing programmes 4 
Section 148: Arrest warrants 0 
Surveillance Devices Act 1998 warrants 8 
Telecommunications Interception and Access Act 1979 warrants 4034 

Table 12: Required Reporting (Section 91(2)) 

 
 
 
 

                                            
34 Includes four combined telecommunications interception and stored communications warrants. 

98 



Advertising 
[238] By section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Commission is required to 

report on expenditure incurred during the financial year in relation to 
advertising agencies, market research organisations, polling organisations, 
direct mail organisations, and media advertising organisations. 

[239] The following tables detail the expenses incurred by the Commission for the 
2009-2010 financial year. 

 

Expense Type Cost ($) 

Advertising agencies Nil

Market Research Organisations Nil

Polling Organisations 4,348

Direct Mail Organisations Nil

Media Advertising Organisations 49,223

Total Expenses 53,571
Table 13:  Advertising and polling expenses 

 

The breakdown in relation to the advertising and polling costs is shown in the 
Table 14 below: 

 

Supplier Cost ($) 

Perception Mapping (Workplace Culture Survey) 3,775

Beehive Industries (Health Department Survey) 573

Adcorp Australia (staff recruitment) 42,091

Adcorp Australia (hearings) 620

Adcorp Australia (other regional) 6,512

Total Expenses 53,571
Table 14:  Recruitment, advertising and polling expenses 
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes 
 

[240] Whilst not required to develop and report on a Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan (DAIP) under the Disability Services Act 1993, the Commission is 
committed to ensuring equality of access and continues to review its services 
and facilities.  To that end, consultation began during the reporting period 
towards the development of a formal DAIP that aims to identify and address 
issues of accessibility to Commission services, events, information, buildings 
and facilities.  The Commission’s DAIP will also seek to address issues of 
employment accessibility and identify initiatives to support recruitment and 
retention of staff with disabilities. 

[241] A key outcome of the development process will be the drafting and 
publication of a policy statement confirming the Commission’s ongoing 
commitment to accessibility for all members of the community.   

 

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes 

 

Public Sector Standards 

[242] The Commission received no valid claims against Public Sector Standards 
during the reporting period.   

[243] The Commission took part in the trial of a four-day breach period for claims of 
a breach of the Public Sector Standard in Recruitment, Selection & 
Appointment.  To reinforce the practice of the standard with relevant staff, the 
Commission coordinated training in conducting recruitment processes for 
employees who take part, or are likely to take part in selection panels. 

[244] During the reporting period a review of the Grievance framework was 
conducted, which resulted in recruitment of new Grievance Officers to ensure 
access to all staff across the Commission, and training of the officers in the 
requirements of their roles.   

 

Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and the Corruption and  
Crime Commission Code of Conduct 

[245] The Commission’s Code of Conduct provides further illustration of the 
application of the Code of Ethics to the Commission’s operations.  All 
employees receive a copy of the Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct on 
commencement for discussion during Induction briefings.  During the year, all 
staff were required to undertake mandatory training in aspects of the Code of 
Conduct, including personal behaviour training highlighting issues 
surrounding bullying, and sexual harassment, and sessions covering Risk 
Management. 
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[246] A review of the applicability of performance management and disciplinary 
policies was commenced during the period.  This review is scheduled to be 
complete early in the next financial year, and will result in revised policies 
and practice statements designed to clearly guide the organisation’s 
management of performance, underperformance and appropriate behaviour. 

Substantive Equality 
[247] The Commission is not a member of the Strategic Management Council and 

therefore not required to implement the Policy Framework for Substantive 
Equality. 

[248] However, the Commission adopts the principles of the Policy Framework and 
seeks to systematically identify and address barriers to participation for 
minority groups where they exist. 

[249] Accordingly, in March the Commission renewed its Equity and Diversity 
Management Plan for the period 2010 to 2013 and has committed to the 
initiatives outlined therein, which aim to increase participation of women in 
senior management roles, youth and indigenous people at the Commission 
during the period. 

Recordkeeping Plans 
[250] The Commission complies with section 19 of the State Records Act 2000, 

and with State Records Commission Standard 2 – Recordkeeping Plans, 
Principle 6 – Compliance, which requires government organisations to have a 
Recordkeeping Plan and that government employees comply with the 
Recordkeeping Plan. 

[251] The Commission engaged external consultants to assist with the verification 
and subsequent submission to the State Records Commission of the 
Commission’s progress against its Recordkeeping Plan. The recommended 
amendments to the Commission’s Recordkeeping Plan were approved at the 
State Records Commission’s meeting 10 October 2008. 

[252] In accordance with section 28 of the State Records Act 2000, the 
Commission’s Recordkeeping Plan is to be reviewed within five years of its 
approval date. Once completed, a report of the review will be submitted to 
the State Records Office by 10 October 2013.   

[253] The Commission utilises an Electronic Document Management System 
(Objective) as its official record keeping system and a Case Management 
and Intelligence System (CMIS) to capture, store and retrieve information 
relating to investigative operations in a secure, centralised repository.  

[254] The record keeping education program is continually being reviewed and 
improved. Information concerning the Commission’s record keeping practices 
is provided during the staff induction process and ongoing refresher training 
seminars are delivered, tailored to the various business units.    
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[255] The Commission is updating its information management strategy, through 
associated training modules and information brochures outlining obligations 
under the State Records Act 2000, for internal staff and contractors and 
consultants. 
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GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS 
 

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management 

[256] The Commission is committed to ensuring the safety and health of its 
employees, and enabling injury management processes to bring employees 
back into the workplace following a work related illness or injury.   

[257] Training in safety practices at the Commission commences with a 
comprehensive induction on an employee’s first day.  Commission-wide 
Occupational Safety and Health ‘refresher’ briefings were carried out in May 
and June of 2010 by an external provider.  The sessions focussed on 
identifying and reporting risks and hazards, employee and employer 
responsibilities, OSH policies and forms and the claim process.  88% of 
Commission staff attended the sessions. 

[258] The Occupational Safety and Health Committee Planning and Advisory 
Group (OSHPAG) was established in 2005 to develop, promote and support 
safety and health initiatives for the Commission.   

[259] Employees across all business areas are represented by OSH 
Representatives, who also participate in the OSHPAG.  During the year, 
regular workplace inspections have been conducted by Safety and Health 
Representatives to ensure compliance with the Occupational Safety and 
Health Act 1984. In addition, a register documenting hazards, actual 
incidents or near misses was maintained. Safety and Health Representatives 
are trained in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health 
Regulations 1996 and provide ongoing advice and the promotion of safety in 
the workplace. 

[260] An external accredited assessment of the Commission’s occupational safety 
and health management systems was completed in late 2007.  The 
assessment indicated that the Commission had a performance rating of 
greater than 65% against five WorkSafe elements, namely management 
commitment, occupational safety and health planning, consultation, hazard 
management and training.  Subsequently, WorkSafe WA awarded the 
Commission the Silver Certificate of Achievement, for demonstrating safe 
working practices for its staff.  The Commission intends to complete a further 
evaluation in the next financial year.   

[261] In accordance with the requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and 
Injury Management Act 1981, the Commission is committed to providing 
injury management support to all workers who sustain a work related injury or 
illness with a focus on safe and early return to meaningful work and in 
accordance with the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management  
Act 1981.  
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[262] The following details the Commission’s performance against targets specified 
in the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 11/2009: 

 

Incident Target 
2009-2010 

Actual 
2009-2010

Number of Fatalities 0 0 

Lost time injuries 0 0 

% of injured workers returning to work within       
28 weeks 

100% 100% 

Lost time injury severity rate 0 0 

% of managers trained in OSH and Injury 
Management responsibilities 

>50% 63% 

Table 15: Occupational Safety and Health Incidents 
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